

PowerShell Security

SCRIPTRUNNER EDITION

0, ([Console]::WindowHeight - 1) 1.AddScript(Sscript).Invok###100Host -NoNewLine 'Q or ESC to Quit ost.UI.RawUL Cursor Prositi On the of the state of the st ^{er (or error out)} 0, ([Console]::WindowHeight^{Host} 1) ite-Host -NoNewLine Q orhESC. to Q Loop through these frame's and displ onsole]::TreatControlCAsInput ile(\$true)

Michael Pietroforte Wolfgang Sommergut



PowerShell Security

- Limit language features
- Secure communication
- > Track abuse

Michael Pietroforte Wolfgang Sommergut

Cover Designer: Claudia Wolff

1. Edition 2020 ISBN: 9781672847827

© 2020 WindowsPro / Wolfgang Sommergut

All rights reserved. No portion of this book may be reproduced in any form without permission from the publisher, except as permitted by U.S. copyright law.

Every effort has been made to ensure that the content provided in this book is accurate and helpful for our readers at publishing time. However, this is not an exhaustive treatment of the subjects. No liability is assumed for losses or damages due to the information provided. You are responsible for your own choices, actions, and results.

Michael Pietroforte Wolfgang Sommergut

PowerShell Security

Limit language features, secure communications, track abuse

- Control execution of scripts using execution policy, code signing and constrained language mode
- Secure PowerShell remoting with SSH und TLS
- Delegate administrative tasks with JEA
- Audit and analyze PowerShell activities, encrypt logs
- Improve code quality following best practices

About the authors



Michael Pietroforte is the founder and editor in chief of 4sysops. He has more than 35 years of experience in IT management and system administration.



Wolfgang Sommergut has over 20 years of experience in IT journalism. He has also worked as a system administrator and as a tech consultant. Today he runs the German publication WindowsPro.de.

Table of contents

1	Pow	erShell as a hacking tool: Prevent abuse of scripts	8
	1.1	Lax default configuration of PowerShell	9
	1.2	Hacking tools for PowerShell	. 10
	1.3	General blocking of PowerShell	. 12
	1.4	Circumvention through alternative shells	. 14
	1.5	Secure PowerShell with integrated mechanisms	. 15
2	Rest	rict execution of scripts	. 20
	2.1	Setting an execution policy	. 20
	2.2	Signing PowerShell scripts	. 25
	2.3	Reduce PowerShell risks with Constrained Language Mode	. 36
3	Secu	ire communication	. 48
	3.1	Installing OpenSSH on Windows 10 and Server 2019	. 48
	3.2	PowerShell remoting with SSH public key authentication	. 57
	3.3	Creating a self-signed certificate	. 64
	3.4	Remoting over HTTPS with a self-signed certificate	. 71
4	Just	Enough Administration	81
	4.1	JEA Session Configuration	81
	4.2	Defining and assigning role functions	. 92
5	Audi	it PowerShell activities	. 98
	5.1	Log commands in a transcription file	. 98
	5.2	Scriptblock logging: Record commands in the event log	106

	5.3	Issuing certificates for document encryption1	.12
	5.4	Encrypt event logs and files with PowerShell and GPO 1	19
	5.5	Audit PowerShell keys in the registry 1	27
6	Impi	rove PowerShell code1	134
	6.1	Avoiding errors using strict mode 1	.34
	6.2	Checking code with ScriptAnalyzer 1	40
7	Mor	e security with ScriptRunner 1	45
	7.1	PowerShell management solution1	45
	7.2	Five steps to safe automation and delegation 1	46
	7.3	Additional information 1	151

1 PowerShell as a hacking tool: Prevent abuse of scripts

PowerShell is a powerful tool for system administration and as such also a perfect means for hackers. Due to the tight integration into the system, attempts to simply block PowerShell provide a false impression of security. The best protection is provided by PowerShell's own mechanisms.

PowerShell offers almost unlimited access to the resources of a Windows computer and also can automate numerous applications such as Exchange. Users aren't limited to the many modules and cmdlets, but can also integrate .NET classes, Windows APIs, and COM objects. These capabilities are particularly dangerous in the hands of attackers.

Since many versions of With Windows Server, Microsoft avoids to activate any roles and features on a freshly installed machine in order to minimize the attack surface. On such a locked down system users must explicitly add all required services.

1.1 Lax default configuration of PowerShell

However with PowerShell, the full range of functions is available from the start on every Windows PC, if you put aside the "protection" by a restrictive execution policy. However, it is not recommended to leave this state as it is.

You don't only have to fear malicious PowerShell experts who can exploit all potentials of a script. In fact, even basic knowledge is sufficient to penetrate systems with the help of various hacking tools.

1.2 Hacking tools for PowerShell

Quite a number of them can be easily obtained as open source via Github. These include the extensive script and module collections <u>PowerSploit</u>, <u>PowerShell Empire</u>, <u>Nishang</u> or <u>PowerUp</u>.

You might assume that your computers are well protected by virus scanners which detect and block these hacking tools. In fact, Windows Defender, for example, intervenes after the download and quarantines the scripts.

7 476 commits		🗇 0 packages	2 releases	24 contributors	গ্রু View license	
anch: master - New pu	ull request			Fit	Clone or downloa	
HarmJ0y Merge pull requ	uest #202 from PowerShellMa	fia/dev		Downloading		
AntivirusBypass	virusBypass Set all module versions to 3.0				ew releases in	
CodeExecution	Fixed FreeLibrary	function signature #146		PowerShellMafia/PowerSploit?		
Exfiltration	fixed little-endia	n encoding		Sign in	Sign up	
Mayhem	Set all module ve	Set all module versions to 3.0			4 years	
Persistence	Added Schedule	dTaskHourly to New-UserPe	ersistenceOption		4 years	
Privesc	typo fix for #179				3 years	
Recon	Updated Get-Exp	ploitableSystem			3 years	
ScriptModification	Set all module v	ersions to 3.0			4 years	
Tests	removed Pester	test for non-exported Invok	e-ThreadedFunction fu	nction	3 years	
.gitignore	Revert "Normalizing all files to ascii encoding"				4 years	
LICENSE	Changed licensir	ng to BSD 3-Clause			8 years	
PowerSploit.psd1	Renamed Get-Re	aistryAutoRun to Get-Mod	lifiableRegistryAutoRun		4 years	

Windows Defender prevents the download of PowerSploit

However, in contrast to binary files, scripts can be changed quite easily to fool a signature based recognition. For example, you can copy <u>Invoke-Mimikatz</u> from the browser window and paste it into an editor like PowerShell_ISE to experiment with the code.

This <u>blog post by Carrie Roberts</u> demonstrates how to outwit most virus scanners by searching and replacing a few significant code snippets. At this point, the technique discussed there may not be up to date any more, but a bit of experimenting will probably reveal how virus scanners detect this script. Otherwise, various <u>AMSI-Bypasses</u> can help you to overwhelm Windows Defender.

1.3 General blocking of PowerShell

To prevent such threats, many companies will take a radical measure and disable PowerShell altogether. In centrally managed environments, black-listing with AppLocker or the Software Restriction Policies is an effective solution.

If you decide to use the software restriction, you create two new hash rules and connect them to *powershell.exe* and *powershell_ise.exe*. For the security level choose *Not allowed*. If you block the programs at the user level, admins can be excluded.



Blocking powershell.exe with software restriction policies

This approach has two disadvantages. Firstly, it can be an obstacle to system administration, because PowerShell has become an indispensable

tool for most admins. For example, PowerShell logon scripts that are executed in the security context of a user will no longer work.

1.4 Circumvention through alternative shells

More serious, however, is that PowerShell comprises more than just powershell.exe or power-shell_ise.exe and therefore cannot be permanently blocked by denying access to these two files. Rather, it is a system component (System.Management.Automation) that cannot be removed and can be used by various runspaces.

Attackers could thus access PowerShell from <u>any of their own programs</u>. It is therefore no surprise that already shells exist that can be integrated into your own code or that can be executed directly. Among them are <u>pOwnedShell</u> or <u>PowerOPS</u>.

In addition, numerous versions of PowerShell 6 and 7 are available for download in ZIP format, which can be easily unpacked into a directory and executed. Frequent previews of PowerShell 7 would keep admins busy, because they always have to create new rules to cover all these versions.

And last but not least, another workaround is to compile PowerShell-Scripts into executable files. They are also not dependent on powershell.exe.

1.5 Secure PowerShell with integrated mechanisms

Instead of completely banishing PowerShell without achieving real security, it makes more sense to use its security features. These were further improved with version 5, so that you should update PCs to the latest version of PowerShell.

It is also highly recommended to remove PowerShell 2.0, which is still preinstalled as an optional feature and can be uninstalled in Windows 8.1 and Server 2012 or higher. With this old version, all major restrictions for PowerShell can be circumvented.



PowerShell 2.0 is an optional feature starting with Windows 8 and Server 2012 and is enabled by default.

One of the key security mechanisms of Windows PowerShell is the Constrained Language Mode, which disables several dangerous features. This language mode is particularly effective when used in conjunction with application whitelisting.

When running PowerShell on remote machines Session Configurations and Just Enough Administration can effectively limit the scope for users.

🚬 JE	A Helper Tool										×
Crea	Create or Edit Role Capability Role Capabilities Design Configurations Listing, Mapping and Testing SDDL Helper										
In th	In this tab, you can create the VisibleCmdlets section of Role Capabilities, and copy/paste them in your files or the first tab										
You	can start from		Existing	role capabilit	y	Au	dit lo	9	Replace grid v		
Or y	ou can pick a cr tionally - proper	ndlet and rties	Stop-VM			¥				~	Add to Grid
Or yo or us	ou can add a fu se it to filter the	ll/partial module, cmdlets list	Hyper-V	v	4	Add to Grid		□ Ci □ Ca	mSession omputerName		Remove Filter
			Module to	import				🗆 Cr	redential		
Or y	ou can pick SM/	A Runbook(s)						□ v	M		Add to Grid
	Module	Name	Parameter	ValidateSet	Valid	atePattern		L Na	ame		
		New-GPO	Name					🗆 Sa	ive		
		New-GPO	Domain								
		New-GPO	Server						IrnOff		
		Get-VM						🗌 Fo	orce		
		Get-Command									
		Measure-Object	Property					L As	dop		
		Measure-Object	Sum						issthru		
		Measure-Object	Average							×	
		Measure-Object	Maximum								
		Measure-Object	Minimum								
		Add Row	Remove	Selected Row	/(s)	Rem	ove A	II Rows	Refresh Role Ca	apability Ou	Jtput
Visil 'Get 'Get @{N {Nar	bleCmdlets=@{ :-VM', :-Command', Name ='Measure me='Minimum'}	Name ='New-GPO'; e-Object'; Parameter } }	Parameters= s=@{Name=	@{Name='N 'Property'},	ame'}, @{Nar	@{Name= ne='Sum'},	"Dom @{N	nain'}, @{ ame='Ave	(Name='Server'} }, erage'}, @{Name='Ma	aximum'}, (0
Visil	bleFunctions=										v
											Copy to Clipboard

Selecting the allowed parameters of a cmdlet for JEA

Besides the means to prevent the abuse of PowerShell, there are also functions to track down suspicious and unwanted activities. This includes the recording of all executed commands in log files (Transcription) as well as the newer Deep Scriptblock Logging. The latter records all PowerShell actions in the event log. These entries can be encrypted using Protected Event Logging and thus be protected from prying eyes. Overall, PowerShell has a number of mechanisms that make malicious use much more difficult.



The event viewer presents only the encrypted entries, it cannot decode them.

Lee Holmes has compiled a table on <u>Microsofts PowerShell-Teamblog</u> that compares the security features of different programming languages and shells.

It shows that PowerShell offers more options than the others to prevent unwanted use. Of course, this does not provide an ultimate security, because resourceful minds always find ways to bypass the defense.

	Event Logging	Trans- cription	Dynamic Evalu- ation Logging	Encrypted Logging	App Whitelist- ing
Bash	No**	No*	No	No	Yes
CMD / BAT	No	No	No	No	Yes
JScript	No	No	No	No	Yes
LUA	No	No	No	No	No
Perl	No	No	No	No	No
РНР	No	No	No	No	No
PowerShell	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Python	No	No	No	No	No
Ruby	No	No	No	No	No
sh	No	No	No	No	No
T-SQL	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	No
VBScript	No	No	No	No	Yes
zsh	No	No	No	No	No

	Antimalware Integration	Local Sand- boxing	Remote Sandboxing	Untrusted Input Tracking
Bash	No	No	Yes	No
CMD / BAT	No	No	No	No
JScript	Yes	No	No	No
LUA	No	No	Yes	Yes
Perl	No	No	Yes	Yes
РНР	No	No	Yes	Yes
PowerShell	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Python	No	No	No	No
Ruby	No	No	No	Yes
sh	No	No	Yes	No
T-SQL	No	No	No	No
VBScript	Yes	No	No	No
zsh	No	No	Yes	No

* Feature exists, but cannot be enforced via policies

**experimental

However, to benefit from these protections, admins must invest more effort than just simply blocking powershell.exe. As a benefit they can keep PowerShell as a fully available system management tool which can even be fine-tuned to delegate tasks to standard users.

2 Restrict execution of scripts

2.1 Setting an execution policy

The execution of PowerShell scripts can be restricted by policies, by default it is blocked. While the execution policy set interactively by the admin can be overridden by any user, configuration via GPO is more sustainable. However, it still does not provide security against malicious users.

The main purpose of the *execution policy* is to protect users from accidentally running untrusted scripts. The default setting on a freshly installed Windows is *Restricted*, so that no user can start PowerShell scripts, not even an administrator.

2.1.1 Settings for the execution policy

Other possible values are:

- AllSigned: Only signed scripts from a trusted publisher are executed, this also applies to locally created scripts.
- **RemoteSigned:** Scripts downloaded from the Internet must be signed by a trusted publisher.
- Unrestricted: All scripts are executed. For unsigned scripts from the Internet, you have to confirm each execution at the prompt.
- Bypass: No restrictions, warnings or prompts
- Undefined: Removes an assigned policy

2.1.2 Scope implicitly on LocalMachine

For example, if you want to change the default *Restricted* to *RemoteSigned* and enter the command

Set-ExecutionPolicy RemoteSigned

then it will fail if you have not opened the PowerShell session with administrative privileges.



Users without administrative rights cannot change the execution policy for the scope Local-Machine.

The reason for this lies in the validity area for the execution policy. If the scope is not explicitly specified, *Set-ExecutionPolicy* assumes *LocalMachine*. This would change the setting for all users on this machine, hence you need admin rights for this.

2.1.3 Overwrite PC-wide setting for a user

As is known from programming, a specific scope overrides a more general one. If you define the execution policy for the current user, it overwrites the one for the local machine. Therefore, any user can override a restrictive, system-wide setting as follows: Set-ExecutionPolicy RemoteSigned -Scope CurrentUser

The scope *Process*, which affects the current session, is even more specific. The setting for this is not stored in the registry as usual, but in the environment variable \$env:PSExecutionPolicyPreference. It is discarded at the end of the session.

2.1.4 Displaying policies for all scopes

The configuration of the execution policy for each scope can be displayed with:

```
Get-ExecutionPolicy -List | ft -AutoSize
```

🔀 Windows PowerShell		
PS C:\Users\ADi PS C:\Users\ADi PS C:\Users\ADi	.xon> .xon> .xon> Get-Executi	i onPolicy -List ft -AutoSize
Scope E	xecutionPolicy	
MachinePolicy UserPolicy	Undefined Undefined	Scope for GPOs
Process CurrentUser LocalMachine	Undefined RemoteSigned Undefined	Scope for Set-ExecutionPolicy

Scope of the PowerShell ExecutionPolicy

In addition to the *LocalMachine, CurrentUser*, and *Process* scopes described above, two others appear in the output of the cmdlet, namely *MachinePolicy* and *UserPolicy*. The values for these can only be set by using group policy.

2.1.5 Defining execution policy via GPO

The setting responsible for configuring the execution policy can be found for the computer and user configuration under *Policies => Administrative Templates => Windows Components => Windows PowerShell* and is called *Turn on Script Execution*.



GPO setting to configure the PowerShell execution policy

The execution policy configured in this way overrides the interactively defined values and also prevents an administrator from changing them on the command line. A bypass by invoking a new shell with

powershell.exe -ExecutionPolicy "Unrestricted"

does not work either, whereas this technique can be used to override a policy for *LocalMachine*. Furthermore, resetting to the *Undefined* value is only possible by deactivating the GPO.

A group policy can thus be used to specify which criteria scripts must meet in order to be allowed to run (this policy does not affect logon scripts, by the way). This prevents untrustworthy scripts from accidentally causing damage due to settings that are too lax.

2.1.6 No protection against malicious users

If a user decides to circumvent this policy, he simply copies the contents of a script to the ISE and runs it there. *RemoteSigned* allows unsigned scripts downloaded from the Internet to be started if you unblock the file using *Unblock-File*.

Another bypass consists of encoding the script in Base64 and transferring it to PowerShell.exe via the *EncodedCommand* parameter. To limit possible damage caused by such activities, it is recommended to use the Constrained Language Mode.

2.2 Signing PowerShell scripts

To ensure the authenticity of scripts, PowerShell is able to stamp them with a signature. You need a signature if you want to set policies that allow only trusted scripts to run. The required certificate can be issued by an ADbased CA for internally developed scripts.

By signing a script, its developer confirms that it originates from him and thus ensures that it has not been subsequently modified. Users who do not want to execute PowerShell code from an unknown source for security reasons can thus restrict the execution of scripts to certain manufacturers.

2.2.1 Restriction via execution policy, CLM, AppLocker

One mechanism for rejecting unsigned scripts is the execution policy. When set to *AllSigned*, both local scripts and scripts downloaded from the Internet must be signed. But this measure is not robust, because users can copy the content of the script to the prompt or to the ISE and start it there.

The Constrained Language Mode (CLM) offers more protection, because it only allows signed scripts to use the full functionality of PowerShell. Unsigned scripts, on the other hand, are denied access to features that have highly destructive potential.

Finally, solutions for whitelisting applications have the strongest effect in blocking untrustworthy scripts. For example, AppLocker can be used to restrict the execution to scripts from certain vendors.

2.2.2 Assign permissions to certificate template

The first step is to make sure that the certificate template for code signing is accessible to users who want to request a certificate for their scripts. To

do this, open the MMC-based tool *Certification Authority* (certsrv.msc) and connect to the internal CA.



Open certificate templates from the MMC tool Certification Authority (certsrv.msc)

From the context menu of *certificate templates*, execute the *Manage* command. This opens the snap-in for certificate templates.

Signing PowerShell scripts

Certificate Templates Console			
File Action View Help			
🗢 🄿 📰 🗐 📑 👔 🖬	ſ		
Certificate Templates (WS2012-E Certificate Templates)	Template Display Name Administrator Arbeitsstationsauthentifiziet Authentifizierte Sitzung Basis-EFS Benutzer On the state	Codesignatur Properties General Request Handling Subject Name Extensions group or user names: Authenticated Users Authenticated Users Building ALHER WINDOWSPRONHR) Bomänen-Admins (WINDOWSPRONDomänen-Admins) Building Building	? × Security
	Codesignatur Codesignatur Codesignatur Computer Document Encryption Dokumentverschlüsselung Domänencontroller	Organisations-Admins (WINDOWSPRO Organisation) Add	s-Admins) <u>R</u> emove
	Domänencontrollerauthent EFS-Wiederherstellungs-Ag Ernollment Agent Ernollment Agent (Comput Ernollment Agent (Comput Exchange Enrollment Agent Exchange-Benutzer IPSec	Permissions for HR Allow Full Control Read Write Enrol	Deny
	IPsec (Offlineanforderung) Kerberos-Authentifizierung Key Recovery Agent Nur Benutzersignatur Nur Exchange-Signatur OCSP-Antwortsignatur @ RAS- und IAS-Server	For special permissions or advanced settings, click Advanced.	Ad <u>v</u> anced Help

Assigning rights to the template for code signing

There you select *Properties* from the context menu of *Code signing* and switch to the *Security* tab. Next you add the group that should request certificates based on this template and grant it the *Read* and *Enroll* permissions.



Open the dialog for activating certificate templates

After confirming this dialog, return to certsrv.msc. From the context menu of certificate templates execute the command *New => Certificate Template to Issue.* In the following dialog you select *code signing* and close it with Ok.

Signing PowerShell scripts

🔄 certsrv - [Certification Authority (WS201	2-DC.windowspro.local)\windowspro-WS2	2012-DC-CA\Certificate Templates]	
File Action View Help			
👍 🔿 🏂 🖓 🗟 🖉			
Certification Authority (WS2012-DC.wind Windowspro-WS2012-DC-CA Revoked Certificates Sisued Certificates Pending Requests Failed Requests Certificate Templates Select on Select on	Iowsp Name Document Encryption Dokumentverschlüsselung RemoteDesktonComputer e Certificate Templates e Certificate Template to enable on this Certificate Certificate Template to enable on this Certificate	Intended Purpose Document Encryption Document Encryption Code Signing Remote Deckton Authentication	×
information All of the c For more Name Q Auth	 about this template has been replicated to all certificate templates in the organization may not information, see <u>Certificate Template Cor</u> erdicated Session 	domain controllers. be available to your CA. <u>Intended Purpose</u> Client Arthentication	^
R CA E	xchange	Private Key Archival	
R CEP	Encryption	Certificate Request Agent	
	: Signing	Code Signing	
Enrol	s Certification Authority	<all> Certificate Request Agent</all>	
Enrol	liment Agent (Computer)	Certificate Request Agent	
🗷 Exch	ange Enrollment Agent (Offline request)	Certificate Request Agent	
🖳 Exch	ange Signature Only	Secure Email	
<		>	
	1	OK Cancel	

Enabling the certificate template for code signing

2.2.3 Requesting a certificate for code signing

Now the developer of scripts can go ahead and request a certificate based on this template. To do this, he starts *mmc.exe* and adds the snap-in *certificates* from the *File* menu. For users who do not have elevated privileges, the tool automatically opens in the context of *Current User*.



Request a new code signing certificate

Here you right-click on *Personal* and then select *All Tasks => Request New Certificate*. This starts a wizard where you select the certificate enrollment policy in the first dialog (usually the default one for AD).

Then you select the template *Code Signing*, open its details and click on *Properties*. In the dialog that appears, enter the necessary data under *Subject* and switch to the *Private Key* tab to check the option *Make private key exportable*.

Signing PowerShell scripts

Gonsole1 - [C	View	Root\Certificates - Current Us Favorites Window Help	er/Personal] 2				- 8 ×				
Console Root	s - Curre al i Root C	ent User ertification Authorities	Object Type There are	no items to show in this vie	w.	Actions Personal More Actions					
S Enterpi S Interm S Active S Trustec S Untrus Third-I S Trustec Third-I	rise Trus	t stificate Enrollment Request Certificates		- 0 X							
> 📫 Client > 🛄 Smart	You can request the following types of certificates. Select the certificates you want to request, and then Cick Enroll. Control Subject Extension: Private Key Cyptographic Service Provider	types of certificates. Select the certificates you want to request, and then		Certificate Properties General Subject Extensions Private Key Certification Authority		×					
		Cryptographic Service Provider		*							
		Basic EFS	(j) STATUS: Available	Details 🛩	Key <u>options</u>		^				
						Code Signing The following options d Key usage: Application policies: Validity period (days	(J) STATUS: Available escribe the user and validity period that apply to this t Digital signature : Code Signing } ∂55	Details A ype of certificate: Properties	Set the key length and export options for th Key size: 2048 Make private key exportable Allow private key to be archived Strong private key protection	e private key.	
		Show all templates			C						
				Enroll Cancel	Key type		*				
						OK Cancel	Apply				
Personal store con	tains no	certificates.]]					

Select the code signing template and make the private key exportable

After confirming this dialog, back in the main window click on *Register*. Now the result of the operation is displayed and you can complete the process with *Enroll*.

- 🗆 🗙

🛱 Certificate Enrollment

Request Certificates

You can request the following types of certificates. Select the certificates you want to request, and then click Enroll.

Administrator	(i) STATUS: Available	Details 💙
Basic EFS	(i) STATUS: Available	Details 💌
Code Signing	i) STATUS: Available	Details 🔺
Key usage: Application policies:	Digital signature Code Signing	type of certificate:
Validity period (days)	365	
		Properties

Successful completion of the certificate request

2.2.4 Signing a script

The certificate can now be found in the user's local store under *Personal* => *Certificates*. This can be displayed in PowerShell using the corresponding provider:

```
Get-ChildItem Cert:\CurrentUser\My -CodeSigningCert
```

You can take advantage of this command used to specify the certificate when signing the script with *Set-AuthenticodeSignature*:

```
Set-AuthenticodeSignature myScript.ps1 `
(dir Cert:\CurrentUser\My -CodeSigningCert)
```

Signing PowerShell scripts



Signing a script by using the Set-AuthenticodeSignature cmdlet

PowerShell will insert the signature in Base64 format as a separate block at the end of the script.

A Windows PowerShell ISE							
Eile Edit	View	/ Jools Debug Add-ons Help					
1 🙆							
Get-AllGP	Get-AllGPOSettings-signed.ps1 X						
7		<pre>[xm]]\$f = Get-Content -Encoding UTF8 -Path \$_</pre>					
8		<pre>\$f.policyDefinitions.Policies.Policy.Name Out-File -Append -FileP</pre>					
9		<pre>gc "Settings\$ver.txt" sort Out-File -FilePath "Set\$ver.txt" -En</pre>					
10		Remove-Item "Settings\$ver.txt" -ErrorAction SilentlyContinue					
11		Rename-Item "Set\$ver.txt" "Settings\$ver.txt"					
12		}					
13	}						
14	#	SIG # Begin signature block					
15	#	MIIIUAYJKoZIhvcNAQcCoIIIQTCCCD0CAQExCzAJBgUrDgMCGgUAMGkGCisGAQQB					
16	#	gjcCAQSgWzBZMDQGCisGAQQBgjcCAR4wJgIDAQAABBAfzDtgWUsITrckOsYpfvNR					
17	#	AgEAAgEAAgEAAgEAAgEAMCEwCQYFKw4DAhoFAAQUHw71LLtHXvanhWBXhNbvX7jt					
18	#	YymgggWtMIIFqTCCBJGgAwIBAgITLgAAAJ3cEQ4mni6W+QAAAAAAnTANBgkqhkiG					
19	#	9w0BAQUFADBVMRUwEwYKCZImiZPyLGQBGRYFbG9jYWwxGjAYBgoJkiaJk/IsZAEZ					
20	#	Fgp3aW5kb3dzcHJvMSAwHgYDVQQDExd3aW5kb3dzcHJvLVdTMjAxMi1EQy1DQTAe					
21	#	Fw0yMDA3MDgyMjM0NDJaFw0yMTA3MDgyMjM0NDJaMFExFTATBgoJkiaJk/IsZAEZ					
22	#	FgVsb2NhbDEaMBgGCgmSJomT8ixkARkWCndpbmRvd3Nwcm8xCzAJBgNVBAsTAk1U					
23	#	MQ8wDQYDVQQDEwZBRG14b24wggE1MA0GCSqGSIb3DQEBAQUAA4IBDwAwggEKAoIB					
24	#	AQC5Hkaq18uD1ozKySH1dDzhN3iDhUfs9gGqtUk1UONxhrt2QgYt8I5P8OsTyuUd					
25	#	r7atCJUpk6+NXYsA+wk/Y+F+yozwXNRApRYTDXTuVELWCsSJvNGg7pxaX0Rm1004					
26	#	wIdyj+Y3B9H1IKmdyu9G440Hguo4m92BMKJ6Yuyp1SKdCh4OX1TZVKrFGnogY8v1					
27	#	WbTZzlv6NLY1DYodqupc7IcGzQISv0peInNG+WCgTrQ/VWvHxvIkoks6sueIcmxp					
28	#	Xo3Q2MKcgMKmqs2i5W+7QzbT5mxyu/aQJdygQh4/2TC5vskyr9xTzKgelu10oSIA					
29	#	BolVauTo5NY81ML4QDLu1zNZAgMBAAGjggJ0MIICcDA1BgkrBgEEAYI3FAIEGB4W					
30	#	AEMAbwBkAGUAUwBpAGcAbgBpAG4AZzATBgNVHSUEDDAKBggrBgEFBQcDAzAOBgNV					
31	#	HQ&BAT&EBAMCB4AwHQYDVR00BBYEFG/5Tjjur1/ZExC7eYkFzMws37pZMB8GA1Ud					
32	#	IwQYMBaAFMt4eeP8q3xYhybisOlxLRvaR/i2MIHcBgNVHR8EgdQwgdEwgc6ggcug					
33	#	gciGgcvsZGFW018vLUNOPXdpbmRvd3Nwcm8tV1MyMDEyLURDLUNBLENOPVdTMjAx					
<							
PS C:	\w	indows> C:\Users\wolf\Documents\Get-AllGPOSettings-signed.ps1					

PowerShell script after signing with a certificate

When the script is started for the first time on a computer after signing, the user must confirm the execution if the publisher is not considered to be trustworthy.

If you select the option *Always run*, this prompt will not appear in the future because the certificate is saved in the store. In this respect, PowerShell behaves just like a web browser or RDP client.

2.2.5 Marking the signature with a time stamp

After signing a script, PowerShell will refuse to execute it if you make even the slightest change to it. The only remedy is to re-sign the script. The same applies when the certificate expires. In this case the script can also no longer be used. But you can prevent this by using a timestamp server when signing.



Signature with a time stamp

This example uses the free service of Globalsign:

```
Set-AuthenticodeSignature myScript.ps1 `
(gci Cert:\CurrentUser\My -CodeSigningCert)`
-TimestampServer http://timestamp.glob-
alsign.com/scripts/timstamp.dll `
-HashAlgorithm "SHA256"
```

This proves that the certificate was valid at the time of signing.

2.3 Reduce PowerShell risks with Constrained Language Mode

PowerShell is a powerful tool that can control almost all components of Windows and applications such like Exchange. It can therefore cause great damage in the hands of attackers. The constrained language mode blocks dangerous features and thus prevents their misuse.

By default, PowerShell operates in *Full Language Mode*, where all functions are available. This includes access to all language elements, cmdlets and modules, but also to the file system and the network.

2.3.1 Blocked Functions

The ability to instantiate COM and .NET objects or to generate new data types (with add-type) that have been defined in other languages is particularly dangerous capability of PowerShell.

The constrained language mode blocks these features (except access to permitted .NET classes). It also prevents the declaration of classes, usage of configuration management with DSC, and XAML-based workflows (see <u>Microsoft Docs</u> for a complete list).

2.3.2 Enabling constrained language mode

A simple way to switch to Constrained Language Mode is to set the responsible variable to the desired value:

```
$ExecutionContext.SessionState.LanguageMode = `
"ConstrainedLanguage"
```


Displaying and changing the Language Mode via the variable \$ExecutionContext.Session-State.LanguageMode

It is obvious that setting this variable does not provide any real protection. You may not be able to change it back to *FullLanguage* in the same session, but a new PowerShell session will again offer the full range of languages features.

2.3.3 Switching to restricted mode with environment variable

Less easy to overcome is the (undocumented) system environment variable <u>PSLockDownPolicy</u>, if you set it to the value 4. As a result, PowerShell, regardless of whether it's just a command line or the ISE, will start in restricted mode.

		User variables for root			
		Variable	Value		
		OpeDrive	C\Users\root WINDOWSPRO\0	IneDrive	
2 System		Path TEMP TMP	C:\Users\root.WINDOWSPRO\A C:\Users\root.WINDOWSPRO\A C:\Users\root.WINDOWSPRO\A	ippData\Local\Microsoft\Wind ippData\Local\Temp ippData\Local\Temp	dowsA
⊢ → × ↑ 🛃 > Control Panel > System and Security > System			New	Edda	Delete
Contre System Properties	\times omputer	System variables	1464	Contas	Devele
Device Computer Name Hardware Advanced System Potection Permote System Vournat be logged on as an Administrator to make most of these changes Advan Visual effects, processor scheduling, memory usage, and visual memory Settings.	erved. /) i7-4770K CPU	Variable ComSpec DriverData NUMBER_OF_PROCESSORS OS Path PATHEXT	Value C:\Windows\system32\cmd.ex C\Windows\System32\Drivers ¹ Windows_NT C:\Windows\system32;C:\Wind .COM_EXE_BAT:.CMD;.VBS;VB	t DriverData Iows;C:\Windows\System32\W E;JS;JSE;.WSF;.WSH;.MSC	Vbem;
User Frakters Desktop settings related to your sign-in Sgttings	g System, x64-ba h Input is availab gs	PROCESSOR ARCHITECTORE	New	Edit	Delete
Startup and Recovery System startup, system failure, and debugging information	.windowspro.loca			OK	Cancel
Settings	Variable name	PSLockDownPolicy			×
OK Cancel Apply	Variable value:	ectory Browse <u>File</u>	1	OK Cance	el

Setting environment variable ___ PSLockDownPolicy interactively

In centrally managed environments you will probably set the system variable using group policies preferences.

GPPRegistry (WS2012-DC.WINDOWSPRO.L Gomputer Configuration Policies Peterences Super Configuration Policies Policies Policies	96 Environmer Processing	t Name Order Action Value There are no items to show	User v in this view.
 ✓ Mindows Settings ✓ Applications ⇒ Drive Maps S Environment ✓ Files M Files M Registry ✓ Shortcuts 	Description (8)	New Environment Properties General Common 0/0 Acjon: Update Iter Variable System Variable	~
> 🗃 Control Panel Settings	No policies selected	Name:	or PATH Partial

Setting environment variable ___PSLockDownPolicy via GPO

A disadvantage of this procedure is that it always affects all users of a computer, including administrators. However, administrators may temporarily remove the environment variable until the GPO becomes effective again. But this is quite cumbersome and definitely not a good solution.

Furthermore, when used this way, it is not a security feature supported by Microsoft and it is relatively easy to circumvent, as shown by <u>Matt Graeber</u> in this Tweet. Nevertheless, it might thwart most opportunist attacks.

A strict enforcement of the constrained language mode on a local computer thus requires the use of a software execution restriction such as AppLocker or Windows Defender Application Control. In a remote session, however, it can be enforced via a Session Configuration.

2.3.4 Automatic detection of an execution constraint

Since version 5, based on script rules PowerShell recognizes automatically whether it should switch to constrained language mode. To do so, it creates a module and a script (with a name following the pattern __PSSCRIPT-POLICYTEST_LQU1DAME.3DD.PS1) under \$env:temp and tries to execute them. If AppLocker or another tool blocks this attempt, PowerShell will start in restricted language mode.

Event Viewer						
Eile Action View Help						
🗢 🐟 🙍 🖬 📓 📷						
Event Viewer (Local)	MSI and Script Nur	nber of events: 88				
> 🔐 Custom Views			2010			
> 🙀 Windows Logs	Level	Date and Tin	ne	Source	Event ID	Task Cate
✓ ₩ Applications and Services Logs	(i) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:08 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
> 🧰 FSLogix Apps	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:08 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
Hardware Events	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:08 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
Internet Explorer	(i) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:08 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
Key Management Service	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
✓ Microsoft	(i) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
> AppV	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
> User Experience Virtualization	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
V Windows	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
> AAD	(i) Information	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
> All-User-Install-Agent	Error	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8007	None
> AllJoyn	Error	2/4/2020 6:3	2:07 PM	AppLocker	8007	None
> AppHost	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:20	8:29 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
ApplD	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:20	8:29 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
> ApplicabilityEngine	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:20	3:29 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
Application Server-Applications	(i) Information	2/4/2020 6:20	3:29 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
> Application-Experience	(1) Information	2/4/2020 6:21	29 PM	Applocker	8005	None
EVE and DU	(i) Information	2/4/2020 6:2	29 PM	AppLocker	8005	None
AASI and Script	Information	2/4/2020 6-2	29 PM	Appl ocker	8005	None
Rackaged app. Deployment	(i) Information	2/4/2020 6/2	29 PM	Applocker	8005	None
Packaged app-Deployment Packaged app-Execution	Dinformation	2/4/2020 6-2	20 DM	Applocker	8005	None
AnnModel-Runtime	Disformation	2/4/2020 6-2	-20 PM	Applocker	8005	None
AnnReadiness	<					
> 📫 Apps	Event 8007 Appl ocke	ur .				
> 📫 Apps-API		e :-				
> AppXDeployment	General Details					
> 🔛 AppXDeployment-Server						
AppxPackagingOM	%OSDR/VE%\USER	RS\LOCAL_JEVANS\TEMP_	PSSCRIPTPOLICYT	EST_ROCJNVOH.Y5B.PSM1 was prevented	ed from running.	
> 🧮 ASN1		·				
> 🛄 AssignedAccess						
> 🔛 AssignedAccessBroker	Log Name:	Microsoft-Windows-Appl	ocker/MSI and Scr	int		
> ATAPort	Source	Applocker	Looged	2/4/2020 6-32-07 PM		
> 🎽 Audio	gource.	0007	Tod Colores	Li - Li		
Authentication	Event ID:	8007	Task Category:	None		
> Authentication User Interface	Level:	Error	Keywords:			
> AckgroundTaskInfrastructure	User:	WINDOWSPRO\Jevans	Computer:	Win10-1809-en.windowspro.local		
> 🛗 BackgroundTransfer-ContentPrefe	OpCode:	Info				
> 🛄 Backup	More Information:	Event Log Online Help				
> Base-Filtering-Engine-Connection ~						

The event log shows whether the execution of the test scripts was successful or if it has failed.

The effect of this mechanism can easily be seen in AppLocker's event log. AppLocker logs the creation and execution of these test files with the ID 8005 (success) or 8007 (execution blocked) under *Applications and Services Log => Microsoft => Windows => AppLocker => MSI und Script*.

2.3.5 Configuring AppLocker

If you use AppLocker for this task, you have to create a new GPO and then edit it in the GPO editor. There you navigate to *Computer Configuration* => *Policies* => *Windows Settings* => *Security Settings* => *Application Control Policies* => *AppLocker* and follow the link *Configure rule enforcement*. In the dialog that appears, you then activate the option *Script rules*.



Enabling rule enforcement for scripts in AppLocker

In order for AppLocker to block applications on the target systems, the service named *Application Identity* must be running. It is not active by default and does not start up when the system is booting. You can change it to start type *Automatic* either interactively using the MMC snapin *services* or from the command line:

ile Action View	Help						
• • 🔃 🔟							
Services (Local) AttiveX Installer (AdmstSV AllJoyn Router Service App Readiness	Name		Description Status Provides User Account Con Routes Alloyn messages fo Gets apps ready for use the				
	Application Identity Application Identity Application Information Application Information Application Management AppX Deployment Service (AppXSVC) AssignedAccessManager Service Auto Time Zone Updater AVCTP service Background Intelligent Transfer Service Background Tasks Infrastructure Service Base Filtering Engine BitLocker Drive Encryption Service BitLocker Drive Encryption Service Bask Level Backup Engine Service BitLocker Drive Encryption Service	Application Ident General Log On Service name: Display name: Description: Path to executal C:\Window typ: Startup type:	Determines and verifi- ity Properties (Local C Recovery Depende SynDosyc Application Identity Determines and verifi- Disabiling this service bains antorned bains antorned tem 32'svchost.exe + L Automatic	ies the Computer) ncies es the identity of will prevent App ocal Service Netv	an application. A Locker from		
	Bluetooth Support Service Buletooth User Support Service_98a0b6 BranchCache Capability Access Manager Service CaptureService_98a0b6 Cortificate Propagation Cortificate Propagation Cilent License Service (ClipSVC) Cipboard User Service_98a0b6 CinK Key Isolation CoM+ Event System CoM+ System Application	Service status: Stat You can specify from here. Stat parameters	Stopped Stop the start parameters that	Pause apply when you	Besume u start the service		

sc config AppIDSvc start=auto

Setting the start type for the Application Identity service to automatic

For a central management of this Windows service, the use of Group Policy is recommended.

2.3.6 Defining rules

Finally it is necessary to define rules that block the start of scripts in the Temp directory. To do this, simply switch to *Script Rules* below AppLocker and select *Create Default Rules* from the context menu.



Creating default rules for scripts in AppLocker

They allow standard users to execute scripts only from the *Windows or Program Files* directories, i.e. in locations where users cannot store any files themselves. Administrators are explicitly exempted from this restriction by a separate rule.

2.3.7 Activating Constrained language mode via SRP

AppLocker is an exclusive feature of the Enterprise and Education editions. Therefore, the Pro edition can use the Software Restriction Policies (SRP) instead.

Again, you just have to ensure that the two test scripts cannot be executed in the %temp% directory. To do this, create a GPO and open it in the editor and navigate to *Computer Configuration => Policies => Windows Settings => Security Settings => Software Restriction Policies.*



Enter file extensions for PowerShell in the Software Restriction Policies.

Here you create a new policy and in the first step you add the extensions *ps1* and *psm1* to the list of the designated file types.



Creating a New Path Rule for the software restriction

Then you create a *New Path Rule* under *Additional Rules*. Here you enter %temp% as the *Path* and leave the setting for *Security level* set to *Disallowed*.

Group Policy Management Editor		
File Action View Help		
← ⇒ 2 📷 🗙 🖾 @ 🕞 🛛 🖬		
Image: Security Levels Image: Security Levels Image: Security Leve	Name Type Secur SHEEY_LOCAL_MACHINESOFTWARE, Path Unree SHEEY_LOCAL_MACHINESOFTWARE, Path Unree Stemp% Path Disall Constant of the security of the s	ity Level tricted owed X
 > ■ IP Security Policies on Active Directory (WINDOWSPRO.LOCAL) > ■ Advanced Audit Policy Configuration > ■ Policy-based QoS > ■ Administrative Templates: Policy definitions (ADMX files) retrieved from the central st 	al st	M
> ≧ Preferences ✓ 💰 User Configuration > ⊆ Policies	OK Cancel &	ppły

Defining the path rule for the Temp directory

2.3.8 Prevent PowerShell 2.0 circumvention

Regardless of whether you choose the environment variable, AppLocker, or Software Restriction Policies, you will need to remove PowerShell 2.0 from the machines where you want to enforce the constrained language mode.

📷 Windows Features	-		×
Turn Windows features on or off			(2)
To turn a feature on, select its check box. To turn a feature off, clear its check box. A filled box means that only part of the	e feature is turne	d on.	
Internet Information Services			^
Internet Information Services Hostable Web Core			
🗄 🔄 Legacy Components			
🛪 🗹 🔥 Media Features			
Microsoft Message Queue (MSMQ) Server			
Microsoft Print to PDF			
Microsoft XPS Document Writer			
MultiPoint Connector			
Print and Document Services			
Remote Differential Compression API Support			
Gervices for NFS			
Simple TCPIP services (i.e. echo, daytime etc)			
SMB 1.0/CIFS File Sharing Support			
MB Direct			
Telnet Client			
TFTP Client			
Virtual Machine Platform			
Windows Defender Application Guard			
Windows Hypervisor Platform			
Windows Identity Foundation 3.5			
🖃 🎽 🔐 Windows PowerShell 2.0			
Windows PowerShell 2.0 Engine			
Windows Process Activation Service			
Windows Projected File System			
Windows Subsystem for Linux			
Windows TIFF IFilter			
Work Folders Client			~
	ОК	Cano	cel

PowerShell 2.0 is an optional feature starting with Windows 8 and Server 2012 and is enabled by default.

It has only been introduced with PowerShell 3.0 and can easily be bypassed by a hacker switching to an older version. All he needs to do is to enter the command:

powershell.exe -version 2.0

You can check whether this old version is still activated on a PC by entering:

Get-WindowsOptionalFeature -Online `

-FeatureName MicrosoftWindowsPowerShellV2

However, you can only uninstall it on Windows 8 and Server 2012 or later, where PowerShell 2.0 is an optional feature.

3 Secure communication

3.1 Installing OpenSSH on Windows 10 and Server 2019

Windows Server 2019 includes OpenSSH as an optional feature for the first time, thus simplifying installation and configuration. However, errors in the earlier builds of the operating system prevent a successful activation of the SSH server. In WSUS environments OpenSSH has the same problems as RSAT.

The porting of OpenSSH to Windows makes it easier to manage heterogeneous environments. Linux computers can be remotely administered via SSH from Windows, and thanks to the new OpenSSH server, the reverse is now also possible. In addition, PowerShell Core supports remoting via SSH, even between different OSes.

3.1.1 **OpenSSH server not included in the operating system**

One would expect that a system component with such strategic importance is delivered as part of the operating system and can be installed as a feature via the Server Manager or PowerShell.

However, Microsoft has decided to provide OpenSSH as an optional feature (also called "Feature on Demand"). This unifies the installation between client and server OS. The following description therefore also applies to Windows 10 from Release 1803 onwards.

3.1.2 Installation via GUI

To install OpenSSH server, start Settings, then go to *Apps => Apps and Features => Manage Optional Features*. As you can see from the list of installed components, the SSH client is already installed by default. The server, on the other hand, you need to add using the Add Features option.



Installing the OpenSSH Server via the Settings App

In the list above, select OpenSSH server and click on the Install button that appears. Windows will now download the required files over the Internet. If an error occurs, you will not receive a message from the Settings App, but it will simply jump back to the list of features.

3.1.3 Adding an OpenSSH-Server via PowerShell

In contrast, PowerShell provides more transparency. To find the exact name of the required package, you enter the following command:

Get-WindowsCapability -Online | ? name -like *OpenSSH.Server*

Finally you add the name shown to Add-WindowsCapability.



Adding an OpenSSH Server via PowerShell

Alternatively, you can pass on the output via a pipe:

```
Get-WindowsCapability -Online |
where name -like *OpenSSH.Server* |
Add-WindowsCapability -Online
```

3.1.4 Faulty Builds

There are at least two reasons why you may encounter problems here. If the build of the system is older than 17763.194, then you will see the error

```
Add-WindowsCapability failed. Error code = 0x800f0950
```

Installing OpenSSH on Windows 10 and Server 2019



The installation of OpenSSH Server fails on earlier builds of Windows Server 2019.

In this case you need a current cumulative update to fix the problem (it is documented here: <u>bit.ly/3kCiOPv</u>).

3.1.5 Problems with WSUS

A further hurdle arises if the server, which is usually the case, is updated via WSUS. Microsoft delivers features on demand bypassing WSUS, so you don't get them via the internal update server.

Therefore, it is not unlikely that PowerShell will present the following error here:

```
Error with "Add-WindowsCapability". Error code: 0x8024002e
```

22 Administrator: Windows PowerShell
PS C:\Windows\system32> Add-WindowsCapability -Online -Name OpenSSH.Server~~~0.0.1.0
Add-WindowsCapability : Fehler bei "Add-WindowsCapability". Fehlercode: 0x8024002e
In Zeile:1 Zeichen:1
+ Add-WindowsCapability -Online -Name OpenSSH.Server~~~0.0.1.0
+ ~~~~~~~
+ CategoryInfo : NotSpecified: (:) [Add-WindowsCapability], COMException + FullyQualifiedErrorId : Microsoft.Dism.Commands.AddWindowsCapabilityCommand

Error while installing OpenSSH as an optional feature in WSUS environments

In the eventlog you will then find an entry with ID 1001 stating that the OpenSSH-Server-Package is not available.

🛃 Event Viewer							
<u>File Action View H</u> elp							
🔶 🏓 🙇 📰 🛛 🖬							
🚺 Event Viewer (Local)	Application Numb	er of events: 134					
> 😽 Custom Views	Level	Date and Time	Source	Event ID	Task Cate		
Windows Logs Application	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:35:51 AM	MSDTC 2	4202	тм		
Security	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:35:45 AM	Windows Error Reporting	1001	None		
Setup	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:35:44 AM	Windows Error Reporting	1001	None		
🛃 System	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:35:43 AM	Windows Error Reporting	1001	None		
Forwarded Events	 Information 	1/23/2019 7:34:06 AM	Search-ProfileNotify	5	None		
Applications and Services Lo	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:33:55 AM	SceCli	1704	None		
Subscriptions	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:33:53 AM	WMI	5617	None		
	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:33:50 AM	WMI	5615	None		
	(i) Information	1/23/2019 7:33:52 AM	Deskton Window Manager	9027	None		
	Event 1001, Window	Error Reporting		×			
	General Details						
	Friendly View	O XML View					
		0 _					
	- EventD	ata			^		
		14014220	75761704021		_		
		14014330	1 3 1 0 1 / 04 03 1				
		5					
		CbsPacka	CbsPackageServicingFailure2				
		Not availa	ble				
		0					
		10.0.1776	3.1				
		OpenSSH	-Server-Package				
		10.0.1776	2 1				
		10.0.1770	5.1				
		amd64			~		

Eventlog entry when adding OpenSSH server as optional component in a WSUS environment

As with the RSAT, a remedy is to allow Windows to load optional features directly from Microsoft Update via group policy. The Setting is called *Specify settings for optional component installation and component repair* and

can be found under *Computer Configuration => Policies => Administrative Templates => System*.



Allowing WSUS clients to access Windows Update using Group Policy.

At the same time, you must ensure that neither the setting *Do not connect* to Windows Update Internet locations nor Remove access to use all Windows Update features is in effect.

The latter may have been enabled to prevent users from manually downloading feature updates. This primarily affects Windows 10 rather than the server.

3.1.6 Activating SSH-Server

OpenSSH Server installs two services which are not yet running and whose startup type is manual and disabled. If you want to use SSH regularly, you will want to start the services automatically.



Displaying the Startup Type and Status of SSH Services with PowerShell

This can be configured via the GUI services, but the fastest way is using PowerShell:

Set-Service sshd -StartupType Automatic

Set-Service ssh-agent -StartupType Automatic

To put the SSH server into operation immediately, you must also start the two services manually:

Start-Service sshd

Start-Service ssh-agent

This command

Get-Service -Name *ssh* |

select DisplayName, Status, StartType

is used to check whether the settings for the two services match and whether they were started successfully. Now you can check if the firewall rule for incoming SSH connections has been properly activated:

```
Get-NetFirewallRule -Name *SSH*

Administrator: Windows PowerShell

PS C:\Windows\system32> Get-NetFirewallRule -Name *SSH* |

>> select DisplayName, Direction, Action, Profile

DisplayName Direction Action Profile

OpenSSH SSH Server (sshd) Inbound Allow Any
```

Checking Firewall-Rule for SSH

3.1.7 Testing the connection

If this condition is also fulfilled, then the connection test is good to go. From a Windows 10 PC or a Linux computer you can connect to the freshly configured server:

ssh <Name-of-Server>

This will direct you at the old command prompt, but you can also start PowerShell there.

Administrator: c:\windows\system3	2\cmd.exe	-						
PS C:\WINDOWS\syst The authenticity o ECDSA key fingerpr Are you sure you w Warning: Permanent windowspro\root@ws Microsoft Windows (C) 2018 Microsoft windowspro\root@wS Volume in Laufwer Volumeseriennumme	<pre>PS C:\WINDOWS\system32> ssh ws2019-vml-11 The authenticity of host 'ws2019-vml-11 (192.168.0.62)' can't be established. ECDSA key fingerprint is SHA256:FmsjHa1rWjLZpbyJV/KMbE4+rF50R0U4G1MecASrcJ04. Are you sure you want to continue connecting (yes/no)? yes warning: Permanently added 'ws2019-vm1-11,192.168.0.62' (ECDSA) to the list of known hosts. windowspr0\root@ws2019-vm1-11's password: wicrosoft Windowspr0\root@ws2019-vm1-01.0.1.7763.253] (c) 2018 Microsoft Corporation. Alle Rechte vorbehalten. windowspr0\root@WS2019-VM1-L1 C:\Users\root>dir Volume in Laufwerk C: hat keine Bezeichnung. Volumeseriennummer: 5410-F686 Verzeichnis von C:\Users\root</pre>							
Verzeichnis von C	:\Users\roo							
23.01.2019 23:36 23.01.2019 23:36 27.12.2018 12:31 27.12.2018 12:31 27.12.2018 12:31 27.12.2018 12:31	<dir> <dir> <dir> <dir> <dir> <dir> <dir> <dir></dir></dir></dir></dir></dir></dir></dir></dir>	3D Objects Contacts Desktop Documents						

Establish connection to freshly installed SSH server

Finally, you should consider whether you would like to use public key authentication for security reasons. This also increases user comfort because you no longer have to enter a password.

3.2 PowerShell remoting with SSH public key authentication

One of the advantages of PowerShell remoting via SSH over WinRM-based remoting is that you can work with public key authentication. This makes remote management of Windows machines that are not members of an Active Directory domain convenient and secure.

If you work with WinRM in an environment without Active Directory, things get quite messy and inconvenient if security matters to you. You have to switch from the default HTTP to the HTTPS protocol, deal with SSL/TLS certificates and with trusted hosts.

Remoting over SSH, which has been introduced with PowerShell 6, doesn't require public key authentication to work. Instead, username and password are also accepted.

The main downside is that you then have to enter your Windows password every time you connect to a remote machine. That might be okay for interactive sessions with *Enter-PSsession*, but if you want to run your scripts remotely via *Invoke-Command*, it could be a problem.

Moreover, public key authentication improves security because it works conveniently without using passwords. Thus, it makes sense to invest a little more time and configure PowerShell remoting for public key authentication.

3.2.1 Local configuration

The first thing you have to do is create the private and the public key, which you can do by simply running the *ssh-keygen* command. By default,

the command saves the key pair in the .ssh folder in your user profile. *id_rsa* is the private key, and *id_rsa.pub* is the public key.

If you want to work without a passphrase, you can just hit Enter twice. However, I recommend using a passphrase because if someone gets access to your private key, this will compromise all your remote machines.

Thanks to the ssh-agent, you don't have to enter the passphrase whenever you connect to a remote machine. The ssh-agent runs as a service and securely stores your private key. At a PowerShell console, you can start the ssh-agent this way:

Start-Service ssh-agent

If you want the service to start automatically after a restart, you can use this command:

Set-Service ssh-agent -StartupType Automatic

To add your private key to the ssh-agent, you have to enter this command:

ssh-add <path to private key>

You will have to enter your passphrase here once. After that you can remove your private key from the .ssh folder and store it in a safer place. PowerShell remoting with SSH public key authentication



Creating a key pair, adding the private key to the ssh agent and removing it again

If you later want to remove the private key from the ssh-agent, you can do it with this command:

ssh-add -d ida rsa

Note that this requires that you provide the SSH key. In case you have lost your private key, you can remove all private keys from the ssh-agent:

ssh-add -D

3.2.2 Remote configuration

Next, you have to copy the contents of the public key file id_rsa.pub to the remote host. Just paste it to the authorized_keys file in C:\Users\<your user name\.ssh\.



The public key for SSH (contents of id_rsa.pub)

By default, public key authentication is enabled in OpenSSH. However, I recommend disabling password authentication for security reasons. If an attacker compromises your Windows password, he can connect to the remote host even without your private key and passphrase.



Disabling password authentication for SSH

To disable password authentication, launch Notepad with admin rights and then open sshd_config in C:\ProgramData\ssh\. Add

"PasswordAuthentication no"

to the file and save it. You have to restart the ssh service to apply the changes. You can do this at a PowerShell console with admin rights:

Restart-Service sshd

3.2.3 Connecting with public key authentication

You are now back onto your local host and ready to test your connection.

At a PowerShell 6 or 7 console, simply enter this command:

Enter-PSession -HostName <remote host> `

-UserName <user name on the remote computer>

The *HostName* parameter ensures PowerShell will connect via SSH instead of WinRM. Note that your user name on the remote computer doesn't have to be same if you use the *UserName* parameter. If you omit this parameter, PowerShell will take your current logon name on the local computer.

Notice you have to enter neither the Windows password nor the passphrase for the private key.

Invoke-Command works in just the same way:

Invoke-Command -HostName <remote hosts> `
-UserName <user name on the remote computer> `
-ScriptBlock {get-process}

🗷 Powers	Shell 6.0.2						-	Х
PS C:\Pr [pro]: P PS C:\Pr	ogram Files S C:\Users\ ogram Files	\PowerShel1 mp\Document \PowerShel1	l\6.0.2> en cs> exit l\6.0.2> in	iter-pss ivoke-co	ess: mmai	ion -HostName pro -UserName nd -HostName pro -UserName (mp mp -ScriptBlock {get-process}	^
NPM(K)	PM(M)	WS(M)	CPU(s)	Id		ProcessName	PSComputerName	
11	6.27	5.57	0.06	3964	0	audiodg	pro	
	7.00	3.38	0.08	296		cleanmgr	pro	
	2.48	0.25	0.00	792		cmd	pro	
	1.79	0.36	0.00	5376		cmd	pro	
	1.00	0.65	0.00	224		CompatTelRunner	pro	
16	4.10	3.66	0.30	5616		CompatTelRunner	pro	
	1.50	1.71	0.02	180		conhost	pro	
	6.28	0.68	0.14	732		conhost	pro	
	1.50	1.79	0.11	1704		conhost	pro	
	1.50	1.03	0.00	2080		conhost	pro	
	6.73	5.70	0.05	3088		conhost	pro	
	1.55	1.60	0.03	4668		conhost	pro	
	1.55	7.20	0.02	5232		conhost	pro	
	5.24	3.65	0.02	5296		conhost	pro	
8	1.50	1.80	0.06	5336	0	conhost	pro	- V

PowerShell remoting via SSH transport and public key authentication

You can also connect with any SSH client. OpenSSH comes with a simple SSH client you can launch from the command prompt:

ssh <user name on the remote computer>@<remote host>

Just for the sake of completeness, if you didn't store your private key in the ssh-agent, you can still work with public key authentication. If the private key is located in the .ssh folder of your user profile, OpenSSH will automatically find the key. If you stored the key in another location, you have to pass the private key.

With the ssh client you can use the -i parameter:

ssh -i <path to private key>id_rsa <user name on the remote host>@<remote host>

Enter-PSsession and *Invoke-Command* have the *-IdentityFilePath* parameter for this purpose:

Enter-PSession -HostName <remote host> ` -UserName <user name on the remote host> ` -IdentityFilePath <path to private key>id rsa

As mentioned above, I don't recommend working this way because it requires storing your private key in clear text on your local computer. Even PowerShell remoting with SSH public key authentication

if you use a passphrase, it is more secure to work with the ssh-agent because you are safe from keyloggers and other password stealing methods.

3.3 Creating a self-signed certificate

While back in Windows XP tools like makecert.exe were needed to issue self-signed certificates, since Windows 8 and Server 2012 PowerShell can take over this task with its cmdlet *New-SelfSignedCertificate*. The certificates can be used for client and server authentication or for code signing. Self-signed certificates are typically used in lab or other small environments where you don't want to set up a Windows domain or an independent certificate authority. The issuer and user are then usually the same person or belong to a small group.

3.3.1 Creating a certificate with default values

To issue a SSL certificate, the cmdlet *New-SelfSignedCertificate* requires only very few parameters. A basic command in an administrative session might look like this:

```
New-SelfSignedCertificate -DnsName lab.contoso.de `
-CertStoreLocation Cert:\LocalMachine\My
```

Creating a self-signed certificate



Creating a self-signed SSL certificate with New-SelfSignedCertificate based on the default settings.

This command creates a new certificate under *My* in the store for the local machine, with the subject set to "lab.contoso.de".

Using the command

```
dir Cert:\LocalMachine\my\<thumbprint-of-certificate> |
```

fl -Property *

you can see that the new certificate has, among other things, the following default properties:

- EnhancedKeyUsageList: {client authentication(1.3.6.1.5.5.7.3.2), server authentication (1.3.6.1.5.5.7.3.1)}
- NotAfter: 22.03.2020 18:52:22
- HasPrivateKey: True
- Issuer: CN=lab.contoso.de
- Subject: CN=lab.contoso.de



If the certificate is generated with the default values, it will be suitable for client and server authentication.

Without specifying a type in the call to *New-SelfSignedCertificate*, the certificate is suitable for client and server authentication. Furthermore, it is valid for 1 year and has a private key which is also exportable as shown by *certutil*.

Creating a self-signed certificate



Displaying the properties of the new certificate in the MMC certificate snap-in.

The cmdlet issues a SAN certificate when you use the *DnsName* parameter. There you specify the subject alternative names as a comma-separated list. The first of them also serves as the subject as well as the issuer if you do not use a certificate to sign the new certificate by using the *signer* parameter.

You may also specify wildcards following the pattern

```
New-SelfSignedCertificate -DnsName `
lab.contoso.de, *.contoso.de -cert Cert:\LocalMachine\My
for creating wildcard certificates.
```

3.3.2 Extended options in Windows 10 and Server 2016

You can override most of the defaults for new certificates with your own parameters for New-SelfSignedCertificate (<u>bit.ly/37c1Plf</u>), but only from Windows 10 and Server 2016 on. Before that, the cmdlet only accepted the parameters *DnsName*, *CloneCert* und *CertStoreLocation*.

The following command allows you to extend the validity beyond one year by specifying a date:

```
New-SelfSignedCertificate -DnsName lab.contoso.de `
-CertStoreLocation Cert:\LocalMachine\My `
-NotAfter (Get-Date).AddYears(2)
```

This example sets the validity to 2 years.

Other use cases besides client and server authentication can also be defined for the certificate. In addition to the default value SSLServerAuthentication, the *Type* parameter also accepts these values:

- CodeSigningCert
- DocumentEncryptionCert
- DocumentEncryptionCertLegacyCsp

On top of that there is *Custom*, which activates all purposes for a certificate. They can be individually deselected again later using the MMC certificate snap-in.

Creating a self-signed certificate

Certificates - Local Computer	Issued To	Issued By		Expir
Personal Certificates	lab.contoso.de	lab.contoso.de		24.03
 Trusted Root Certification Authorities Enterprise Trust Intermediate Certification Authorities Trusted Publishers Untrusted Certificates Trusted People Client Authentication Issuers Preview Build Roots ESIM Certification Authorities SIM Certification Authorities SIM Certification Authorities Remote Desktop Certificate Enrollment Requests Smart Card Trusted Roots Trusted Packaged App Installation Authorities Trusted Devices Windows Live ID Token Issuer 	YearWith ab.contoso.de Properties General Cross-Certificate Friendly name: Description: Certificate purposes Grable all purposes Opsable all purposes Posorie all purposes Prosorie Time Posorie Time <	s OCSP Extended Validation	? e allowed by > d Purpose.	×

If you select 'Custom' as the type, you generate a certificate with all purposes.

If you do not want the private key to be exportable, you can achieve this using the parameter:

-KeyExportPolicy NonExportable

3.3.3 Exporting the certificate

If you want to export the certificate to a PFX file in order to use it on an IIS web server, then Export-PfxCertificate serves this purpose. However, it requires that you secure the target file, either with a password or with access rights that you set using the *ProtectTo* parameter.

If you use a password, you first turn it into a secure string:

```
$CertPW = ConvertTo-SecureString -String "secret" `
```

-Force -AsPlainText

It is then passed to the parameter *Password* when calling Export-PfxCertificate:

Export-PfxCertificate -Password \$CertPW `

-Cert cert:\LocalMachine\My\<Thumbprint> myCert.pfx

You specify the certificate via the path in the store and its thumbprint.

Administrator:	Windows PowerShell				-		×
PS C:\User temp.pfx	s\root> Export-PfxCertifica -Password \$CertPW	te -Cert Ce	rt:\LocalMachine\My\0B439430	6FED0BD56BE1F9154	856FA19F5	25D3(ðF
Direct	ory: C:\Users\root						
Mode	LastWriteTime	Length	Name				
-a	3/25/2019 1:28 PM	2661	temp.pfx				

Exporting self-signed certificate to a PFX file

If you use a self-signed certificate on a server, it is not considered trustworthy by the clients. To bypass the corresponding warning, you can import it into the trusted root certification authorities on the clients, either manually or via GPO.

To do this, export the certificate without a private key in DER-encoded format:

```
Export-Certificate -FilePath MyCert.cer `
```

-Cert Cert:\LocalMachine\My\<Thumbprint>

In Windows the name extension for such an export file is usually ".cer".

3.4 Remoting over HTTPS with a self-signed certificate

WinRM encrypts data by default and is therefore secure even if you only work with HTTP (which is the standard configuration). Especially in workgroups, you can achieve additional security by using HTTPS, whereby a self-signed certificate should suffice in most cases.

Indeed, Microsoft's documentation for *Invoke-Command* (<u>bit.ly/3fVd2d1</u>) confirms that WS-Management encrypts all transmitted PowerShell data. Unfortunately, if not configured properly, PowerShell Remoting is insecure and it in some cases you need to change the default configuration.

To check how your machines are configured, you can run this command:

```
winrm get winrm/config
```



Checking WinRM configuration

You can also view the configuration in PowerShell:

dir WSMan:\localhost\Service | ? Name -eq AllowUnencrypted



Query current WS-Management configuration using PowerShell
For the client, the corresponding command is

dir WSMan:\localhost\Client | ? Name -eq AllowUnencrypted

3.4.1 Additional protection for workgroup environments

The second and, in my view, bigger problem is that, if you are working with machines that are not in an Active Directory domain, you don't have any trust relationship with the remote computers. You are then dealing only with symmetric encryption, so man-in-the-middle attacks are theoretically possible because the key has to be transferred first.

There you have to add the remote machines that are not in an Active Directory domain to your TrustedHosts list on the client. However, you don't improve security just by defining IP addresses or computer names as trustworthy. This is just an extra hurdle that Microsoft added so you know that you are about to do something risky.

This is where PowerShell Remoting via SSL comes in. For one, HTTPS traffic is always encrypted. Thus, you can always automate your tasks remotely, free of worry. And, because SSL uses asymmetric encryption and certificates, you can be sure that you are securely and directly connected to your remote machine and not to the computer of an attacker that intercepts and relays your traffic.

On the downside, configuring PowerShell Remoting for use with SSL is a bit more difficult than just running *Enable-PSRemoting*. The main problem is that you need an SSL certificate. If you just want to manage some standalone servers or workstations, you probably don't like to acquire a publicly-signed certificate and want to work with a self-signed certificate instead.

However, you will now see that enabling SSL for WinRM on the client and on the server is not so difficult (although it is not as straightforward as with SSH), and you can do it all with PowerShell's built-in cmdlets. You don't even need the notorious *winrm* Windows command-line tool.

3.4.2 Enabling HTTPS on the remote computer

The first thing we need to do is create an SSL certificate. If you have a publicly-signed certificate, things are easier and you can use

Set-WSManQuickConfig -UseSSL

As mentioned above, since the release of PowerShell 4, we don't require third-party tools for issuing a self-signed certificate.

The *New-SelfSignedCertificate* cmdlet is all we need:

```
$Cert = New-SelfSignedCertificate -DnsName "myHost" `
-CertstoreLocation Cert:\LocalMachine\My
```

It is important to pass the name of the computer that you want to manage remotely to the *-DnsName* parameter. If the computer has a DNS name, you should use the fully qualified domain name (FQDN).

🛃 Administrator: Wind	lows PowerShell								-		>
PS C:\Users\I PS C:\Users\I PS C:\Users\I	wolf> wolf> \$Cert = New-Self wolf>	SignedCertificate	-CertstoreL	Location Ce	ert:\LocalMa	achine\My	-DnsName \$	env : COMPU	TERNAM	E	
PS C:\Users\ Verzeich	wolf> Export-Certifica nis: C:\Users\wolf\Dow	nte -Cert \$Cert -F wnloads	ilePath C:\U	Users\wolf\	\Downloads\r	mycert.der					
Mode	LastWriteTime	Length Na	me								
-a	29.04.2019 20:57	814 my	cert.der								
PS C:\Users\i nt -Force	wolf> New-Item -Path W	/SMan:\LocalHost\L	istener -Tra	ansport HTT	TPS -Addres				ert.Th	umbpr	i
WSManConf:	ig: Microsoft.WSMan.Ma	anagement\WSMan::1	ocalhost\Lis	stener							
Туре	Keys		Name								
Container	{Transport=HTTPS,	Address=*}	Listener_13	305953032							

Issue self-signed certificate, export it, and generate HTTPS listener for PowerShell remoting.

If you want to, you can verify that the certificate has been stored correctly using the certificate add-in of the Microsoft Management Console (MMC). Type **mmc** on the Start screen and add the Certificates add-in for a computer account and the local computer. The certificate should be in the Personal\Certificates folder.



Certificate in MMC on the remote computer

We now have to export the certificate to a file because we will have to import it later into our local machine. You can do this with the MMC addin, but we'll do it in PowerShell:

```
Export-Certificate -Cert $Cert -FilePath C:\temp\cert
```

The file name doesn't matter here.

We need the certificate to start the WS-Management HTTPS listener. But we should first enable PowerShell Remoting on the host:

```
Enable-PSRemoting -SkipNetworkProfileCheck -Force
```

The *-SkipNetworkProfileCheck* switch ensures that PowerShell won't complain if your network connection type is set to Public. *Enable-PSRemoting* also starts a WS-Management listener, but only for HTTP. If you want to, you can verify this by reading the contents of the WSMan drive:

```
dir wsman:\localhost\listener
```



Listing WSMan listeners

To ensure that nobody uses HTTP to connect to the computer, you can remove the HTTP listener this way:

```
Get-ChildItem WSMan:\Localhost\listener |
```

```
Where -Property Keys -eq "Transport=HTTP" |
```

Remove-Item -Recurse

This command removes all WSMan listeners:

Remove-Item -Path WSMan:\Localhost\listener\listener*

-Recurse

Next, we add our WSMan HTTPS listener:

```
New-Item -Path WSMan:\LocalHost\Listener -Transport HTTPS
-Address * -CertificateThumbPrint $Cert.Thumbprint -Force
```

We are using the \$Cert variable that we defined before to read the Thumbprint, which allows the *New-Item* cmdlet to locate the certificate in our certificates store.

The last thing we have to do is configure the firewall on the host because the *Enable-PSRemoting* cmdlet only added rules for HTTP:

New-NetFirewallRule -LocalPort 5986 -Protocol TCP `
-DisplayName "Windows Remote Management (HTTPS-In)" `
-Name "Windows Remote Management (HTTPS-In)" -Profile Any

🛃 Administrator: Windows PowerShell		-	>
PS C:\Windows\system32 nagement (HTTPS-In)" -	New-NetFirewallRule -DisplayName "Windows Remote Management (HTTPS-In)" -Name "Window Profile Any -LocalPort 5986 -Protocol TCP		
Name DisplayName Description DisplayGroup Group Enabled Platform Direction Action EdgeTraversalPolicy LocalOnlyMapping Owner PrimaryStatus Status EnforcementStatus PolicyStoreSource PolicyStoreSource PolicyStoreSource	<pre>Windows Remote Management (HTTPS-In) : Windows Remote Management (HTTPS-In) : : : : : : True : Any : {} : Any : {} : Inbound : Allow : Allow : Block : False : : False : : False : : Ook : Die Regel wurde erfolgreich vom Speicher aus analysiert. (65536) : NotApplicable : PersistentStore : Local : Local</pre>		

Create new firewall rule for PowerShell remoting over HTTPS

Notice here that we allow inbound traffic on port 5986. WinRM 1.1 (current version is 3.0) used the common HTTPS port 443. You can still use this port if the host is behind a gateway firewall that blocks port 5986:

```
Set-Item WSMan:\localhost\Service\EnableCompatibility-
HttpsListener -Value true
```

Of course, you then have to open port 443 in the Windows Firewall. Note that this command won't work if the network connection type on this machine is set to Public. In this case, you have to change the connection type to private:

Set-NetConnectionProfile -NetworkCategory Private

For security reasons, you might want to disable the firewall rule for HTTP that *Enable-PSRemoting* added:

```
Disable-NetFirewallRule -DisplayName "Windows Remote Man-
agement (HTTP-In)"
```

Our remote machine is now ready for PowerShell Remoting via HTTPS, and we can configure our local computer.

3.4.3 Activate HTTPS on the local computer

Things are a bit easier here. First, you have to copy the certificate file to where we exported our certificate. You can then import the certificate with this command:

```
Import-Certificate -Filepath "C:\temp\cert" `
```

-CertStoreLocation "Cert:\LocalMachine\Root"

Note that we need to store the certificate in the Trusted Root Certification Authorities folder here and not in the Personal folder as we did on the remote computer. Your computer trusts all machines that can prove their authenticity with the help of their private keys (stored on the host) and the certificates stored here.

9	Cons	ole1 - [Console Root\Certificates (Local Computer)	\Trusted Root Certification Authorities\Certificates]	
5	<u>F</u> ile	Action View Favorites Window Help		
×	Consc Co	All Root trifficates (Local Computer) Personal Trusted Root Certification Authorities Certificates (Local Computer) Personal Trusted Root Certification Authorities Trusted Publishers Untrusted Certificates Third-Party Root Certification Authorities Trusted People Client Authentication Issuers Preview Build Roots Test Roots eSIM Certification Authorities Remote Desktop Smart Card Trusted Roots Trusted Peckaged App Installation Authorities Trusted Desktop Smart Card Trusted Roots Trusted Desktop Smart Card Trusted Roots Trusted Desktop Installation Authorities Trusted Desktop Smart Card Trusted Roots Trusted Desktop Installation Authorities Trusted Desktop Installation Authorities	Issued To Baltimore CyberTrust Root Class 3 Public Primary Certification Authority Copyright (c) 1997 Microsoft Corp. DESKTOP-ETJFH3V DigiCert Global Root CA DigiCert High Assurance EV Root CA Hotspot 2.0 Trust Root CA - 03 Microsoft Authenticode(tm) Root Authority Microsoft ECC Product Root Certificate Authority 20 Microsoft Root Certificate Authority 20 Microsoft Root Certificate Authority 20 Microsoft Root Certificate Authority Microsoft Root Certificate Authority 2010 Microsoft Root Certificate Authority 2011 Microsoft Time Stamp Root Certificate Authori NO LIABILITY ACCEPTED, (c)97 VeriSign, Inc. Symantec Enterprise Mobile Root for Microsoft Thawte Timestamping CA	Issued By Baltimore CyberTrust Rool Class 3 Public Primary Cer Copyright (c) 1997 Micros DESKTOP-ETJFH3V DigiCert Global Root CA DigiCert High Assurance E Hotspot 2.0 Trust Root CA Microsoft ECC Product Rc Microsoft ECC TS Root Ce Microsoft Root Authority Microsoft Root Certificate Microsoft Root Certificate Microsoft Root Certificate Microsoft Root Certificate Microsoft Time Stamp Roi NO LIABILITY ACCEPTED, Symantec Enterprise Mob Thawte Timestamping CA

Certificate in MMC on the local computer

By the way, this is why we don't have to add the remote machine to the TrustedHosts list. In contrast to PowerShell Remoting over HTTP, we can be sure that the remote machine is the one it claims to be. This is the main point of using HTTPS instead of HTTP.

We are now ready to enter a PowerShell session on the remote machine via HTTPS:

Enter-PSSession -ComputerName myHost `

-UseSSL -Credential (Get-Credential)

The crucial parameter here is *-UseSSL*. Of course, we still have to authenticate on the remote machine with an administrator account.

You might receive this error message:

The SSL certificate is signed by an unknown certificate authority.

In that case you can just add the the *-SkipCACheck* parameter.

The Invoke-Command cmdlet also supports the -UseSSL parameter:

Invoke-Command -ComputerName myHost -UseSSL `

-ScriptBlock {Get-Process} -Credential (Get-Credential)

3.4.4 Conclusion

HTTPS doesn't just add another encryption layer; its main purpose is to verify the authenticity of the remote machine, thereby preventing manin-the-middle attacks. Thus, you only need HTTPS if you do PowerShell Remoting through an insecure territory. Inside your local network, with trust relationships between Active Directory domain members, WSMan over HTTP is secure enough.

4 Just Enough Administration

4.1 JEA Session Configuration

If users want to connect to a remote PC via PowerShell without administrative privileges, they fail because of insufficient rights. This limitation can be eliminated with the help of session configurations. Thereby it is not necessary to grant standard users access to all functions of PowerShell.

The ability for remote management is one of the strengths of PowerShell. It is not limited to interactive sessions in which commands are executed on the remote computer. Rather, it also allows you to run scripts to help automate tasks.

4.1.1 Session Configurations as a component of JEA

By default, this option is not available to standard users and their requests will be rejected by the target computer. However, if you want to delegate tasks to employees without administrative privileges, you have to relax this strict rule.



By default, users without administrative rights cannot establish a remote session with PowerShell.

A session configuration serves this purpose. It determines who is allowed to establish a session on a computer. This function is also performed by the Just Enough Administration (JEA). JEA defines what the users are allowed to do there via additional role capabilities files.

In many cases, however, you do not have to deal with the complete JEA, but you can define the access rights and the available language elements directly via a session configuration.

4.1.2 Restrictive standard configurations

Session definitions always control PowerShell access to a computer, even if you have not created one of your own. By default, there are three Session Configurations on each Windows computer, namely *microsoft.powershell*, *microsoft.powershell.workflow* and *microsoft.windows.servermanagerworkflows*. If you create a new session, such as with *Enter-PSSession*, and do not specify a particular configuration, then *microsoft.powershell* takes effect by default. As you can see from the command

Get-PSSessionConfiguration

on the target computer, this session configuration is reserved for administrators and members of the local group *Remote Administration Users*.

Administrator: Windows Po	werS	hell - D
PS C:\Users\rd	00	t.WINDOWSPRO>
PS C:\Users\rd	00	t.WINDOWSPRO> Get-PSSessionConfiguration
Name		microsoft.powershell
PSVersion		5.1
StartupScript		
RunAsUser		
Permission		NT AUTHORITY\INTERACTIVE AccessAllowed, BUILTIN\Administrators AccessAllowed,
		BUILTIN\Remote Management Users AccessAllowed
Name		microsoft.powershell.workflow
PSVersion		5.1
StartupScript		
RunAsUsen		
Permission		BUILTIN\Administrators AccessAllowed, BUILTIN\Remote Management Users AccessAllowed
Name		microsoft.powershell32
PSVersion		5.1
StartupScript		
RunAsUser		
Permission		NT AUTHORITY\INTERACTIVE AccessAllowed, BUILTIN\Administrators AccessAllowed,
		BUILTIN\Remote Management Users AccessAllowed
Name		microsoft.windows.servermanagerworkflows
PSVersion		3.0
StartupScript		
RunAsUser		
Permission		NT AUTHORITY\INTERACTIVE AccessAllowed, BUILTIN\Administrators AccessAllowed

Displaying the existing session configurations and their authorizations with Get-PSSession-Configuration

4.1.3 Defining your own configurations

Theoretically, you could now simply change the security settings of this configuration to give access for selected standard users. But you should refrain from that and maintain a working configuration for admins.

The simplest way to create a new session configuration is to execute a command according to the following pattern on the target computer (also called an endpoint in JEA jargon):

```
Register-PSSessionConfiguration -Name HelpDesk
```



Create a new session configuration with Register-PSSessionConfiguration

Not much is gained with this command, because the new configuration is only a copy of *microsoft.powershell* and does not allow users other than admins to access the computer. Hence, you should define the permissions when you create the configuration.

4.1.4 Defining permissions

This is done using the parameter *SecurityDescriptorSddl*, but it needs the permissions in the syntax of the Security Descriptor Definition Language (<u>bit.ly/33Xti8f</u>). If you do not need to create Session Configurations too often, you can save yourself this effort and use the parameter *ShowSecurityDescriptorUl* instead:

```
Register-PSSessionConfiguration -Name HelpDesk `
```

-ShowSecurityDescriptorUI

This opens the dialog you already know from managing file permissions.

Administrator: Windows Power!	hell			-	
PS C:\Windows\s PS C:\Windows\s >> -ShowSecurit WARNING: Regist using this name In that case, a All WinRM sessi Wispnsch Bowon	<pre>ystem32> ystem32> Register-PSSessi yDescriptorUI en-PSSessionConfiguration has recently been unregi restart of WinRM may be ons connected to Windows bell and constinuers.</pre>	onConfiguration -Name HelpDesk ` may need to restart the WinRM set stered, certain system data struct required. PowerShell session configurations prings that and constd with the	Permissions for http://schemas.m http://schemas.microsoft.com/powenhel Group or user names: AR_Adments.com/schemas.microsoft/001002.BIOA RATERACTIVE	icrosoft.com/powers //HelpDesk Sministrators)	L X
Register-PSSess	ionConfiguration cmdlet,	are disconnected.		Add Bernov	•
WSManConfig:	Microsoft.WSMan.Manageme	Permissions for Administrations Full Control(Al Operations) Read(Set.Enumente, Subscribe) Witter(Put, Delete, Create) Execute(Privake) Special permissions	Alow Deny		
Туре	Keys	Name	For special permissions or advanced set click Advanced.	tings. Adganced	1
Container	{Name=HelpDesk}	HelpDesk	OK	Cancel	ply

Managing Permissions for a Session Configuration

By adding local or AD groups and assigning them the desired privileges, you determine who can use this configuration. To run a remote session, the *Execute* permission is sufficient here.

4.1.5 Defining RunsAs users

So far you have already configured who is allowed to start a session on this remote computer using the new configuration. In addition, you can also specify under which user ID this should happen by passing the respective ID to the *RunAsCredential* parameter:

```
Register-PSSessionConfiguration -Name HelpDesk `
-RunAsCredential contoso\FLee
```



Specify the account under which the remote session should run if it was started from session configuration.

PowerShell then prompts for the password and stores it in the configuration. If a user then connects to the target PC via a session configuration, he or she will automatically work there in the context of this account. If you do not use this option, the connection is made under the locally logged on user.

4.1.6 Forcing restrictions for sessions

Working under a different account might give the users different permissions in the file system, but functional restrictions imposed by a session configuration apply regardless of the account used. The RunsAs account therefore does not require any permissions in the Security Descriptor of the session configuration.

The *Register-PSSessionConfiguration* cmdlet provides several parameters that can be used to limit the users' options:

- MaximumReceivedDataSizePerCommandMB: specifies the maximum amount of data in MB that can be transferred with one command (Default: 50MB).
- MaximumReceivedObjectSizeMB: determines the maximum size of a single object that can be transferred (Default: 10MB)
- SessionType: decides which modules and snap-ins are available in the session. These are none when the value is *empty* (and must be explicitly added using the *ModulesToImport* parameter, for example). *Default* allows users to extend the functionality themselves using *Import-Module*. Finally, *RestrictedRemoteServer* provides half a dozen cmdlets.

All of the parameters described here, except *Name*, can also be used later to customize the configuration using *Set-SessionConfiguration* (bit.ly/33Y3KIi).

4.1.7 Additional options via configuration file

In many cases, *Register-PSSessionConfiguration* can create the necessary context for users to perform specific tasks on the remote host. As an additional option you can run a script when starting the session (*StartupScript* parameter).

But if that is not enough, there are more options available with a configuration file. This can be created with the *New-PSSessionConfigurationFile* cmdlet. You can pass the desired settings to the configuration file either as parameters (see the complete list here: bit.ly/33Tfeg8) or you can run it in this minimalist form:

```
New-PSSessionConfigurationFile -Path .\MyConfig.pssc
```

The file name requires the .pssc extension. Then open the file in a text editor and add the desired settings, some of which are already available and commented out.



Default file created by New-PSSessionConfigurationFile

The following are particularly useful to prevent users from potentially harmful actions:

- LanguageMode with the values FullLanguage, RestrictedLanguage, ConstrainedLanguage, NoLanguage: The latter allows only the execution of cmdlets and functions, other language resources are not available. FullLanguage offers the full range of language capabilities, the other two lie between these two poles.
- VisibleAliases, VisibleCmdlets, VisibleFunctions, VisibleProviders: These allow you to specify which aliases, cmdlets, functions, and providers are available in the session. You can use wildcards and specify multiple values as array.

JEA Session Configuration

4.1.8 Limiting access to cmdlets

To restrict the available cmdlets to those which only read and do not write,

you could use the expression Get*, Select*:

New-PSSessionConfigurationFile -Path .\MyConfig.pssc `

```
-VisibleCmdlets "Get*", "Select*"
```

Then, you adjust the Session Configuration based on this file:

Set-PSSessionConfiguration -Name HelpDesk `

-Path .\MyConfig.pssc



Create the configuration file and assign it to a new session configuration.

If you now try to establish an interactive remote session with the computer, you will fail, because not all necessary commands are available:

```
Enter-PSSession -ComputerName remote-pc `
-ConfigurationName HelpDesk
```



The reduced range of functions is not sufficient for an interactive session.

Therefore, a user with this session configuration is restricted to issuing commands remotely, for example, using a command like this:

Invoke-Command -ComputerName remote-pc `

-ConfigurationName Helpdesk {Get-ChildItem}

C:\Windows\System32\Windows	PowerShell\v1.0\powershell.	exe								
Windows PowerS Copyright (C)	hell Microsoft C	corporation. A	All rights i	reserved.						
PS C:\Users\ADixon> Invoke-Command -ComputerName win10-1809-en ` >> -ConfigurationName Helpdesk {Get-ChildItem}										
Directory:	C:\Users\A	Dixon\Documer	nts							
Mode	Lastw	riteTime	Length	Name	PSComputerName					
 -a	7/8/2020	4:49 PM	3701	Get-AllGPOSettings-ts.	Win10-1809-en					
-a	7/8/2020	4:53 PM	7825	Get-AllGPOSettings.ps1	Win10-1809-en					
PS C:\Users\AD	hixon> _									

Issuing a command remotely in a restricted session using Invoke-Command

4.1.9 Assign a configuration to a session

As the two commands above show, you have to specify the desired session configuration using the *ConfigurationName* parameter. If you don't do that, *microsoft.powershell* will be applied and non-administrative users will be kept out. But you can specify which configuration is used by default with the variable *\$PSSessionConfigurationName*.

Finally, you can remove session configurations that you no longer need by using the *Unregister-PSSessionConfiguration* cmdlet. It requires only the name of the configuration as its arguments.

4.2 Defining and assigning role functions

Just Enough Administration (JEA) allows users without administrative privileges to perform management tasks. JEA is based on session configurations that determine who gets access. Role capabilities then define the means available for them in PowerShell.

You can already control some of the properties when you create or change a session configuration with *Register-PSSessionConfiguration or Set-PSSessionConfiguration*. You get more options by using a configuration file (.pssc). Here, a certain language mode can be enforced or access to specific cmdlets can be restricted.

However, if you need a more complex set of rules to tailor the options in a session to the needs of specific tasks, then you should define the role functions in a separate .psrc file.

4.2.1 More flexibility using role capability files

This has at least two advantages. First, you have to update a session configuration every time you change role functions directly in its configuration file, and then restart WinRM. In contrast, external role definitions are simply read in at runtime.

Secondly, independent role capability files can be assigned to several session configurations, so that redundant information can be avoided. Conversely, it is also possible to use several of these role functions in a single session configuration so that they can be structured modularly. Defining and assigning role functions

4.2.2 Generating a role capability file

The files with the .psrc extension to describe role capabilities are text files. A skeleton file can be created with the command:

New-PSRoleCapabilityFile -Path MyRCF.psrc

It contains all available options plus the corresponding description in a commented form, so that you can edit them right away in an editor. When creating the file, you could also use the numerous parameters of *New-PSRoleCapabilityFile* (<u>bit.ly/2NTpO12</u>) to set various settings.

Example of a Role Capability File and its options

One of the most important aspects of a role definition is to restrict sessions to specific cmdlets, functions, aliases, or variables. The use of cmdlets can be limited down to the level of individual parameters.

4.2.3 Compiling VisibleCmdlets via GUI

It is relatively time-consuming if you want to manually enter such detailed information in the .psrc file. This job is simplified by the JEA Helper Tool (<u>bit.ly/2OILUYX</u>), a PowerShell script with GUI. On the *Role Capabilities Design* tab, you can interactively compile the list of cmdlets that the users of a particular session are allowed to see.

2 JEA Helper Tool X								
Create or Edit Role Capability Role Capabilities Design Configurations Listing, Mapping and Testing SDDL Helper								
In this tab, you can create the VisibleCmdlets section of Role Capabilities, and copy/paste them in your files or the first tab								
You can start from Existing role capability Audit log Replace grid v								
Or you can pick a cmdlet and New-GPO Add to Grid								
Or you can add a full/partial module, GroupPolicy · Add to Grid Add Get-* only Filter Cmdlets Remove Filter								
Module to import Import Module								
Or you can pick SMA Runbook(s) Add to Grid								
Module Name Parameter ValidateSet ValidatePattern								
New-GPO Name								
New-GPO Domain								
New-GPO Server								
Add Row Remove Selected Row(s) Remove All Rows Refresh Role Capability Output								
VisibleCmdlets=@{Name ='New-GPO'; Parameters=@{Name='Name'}, @{Name='Domain'}, @{Name='Server'} }								
VisibleFunctions=								
v								
Copy to Clipboard								

Selecting the cmdlets that you want to use for a session configuration

If you select a module from the drop-down in the third row and then click on *Filter Cmdlets*, the list in the second row is reduced to the cmdlets of that module. After you have selected a cmdlet, a drop-down menu opens next to it with all of its parameters. Here you can select individual parameters or mark none of them in order to enable all of them.

🔀 JEA H	Helper Tool												×
Create	or Edit Role C	apability Role	Capabilities	Design	Config	urations Li	sting, I	Mappi	ng and	Testing SDDI	Helper		
In this t	ab, you can cr	eate the VisibleCm	dlets section	of Role Capa	abilitie	s, and cop	y/past	e then	n in you	r files or the first f	tab		
You can	start from		Existing	role capabilit	y	A	udit lo	9	Re	eplace grid 🛛 🗸			
Or you - option	can pick a cm nally - propert	dlet and ies	Stop-VM			Ý					~		Add to Grid
Or you	can add a full,	/partial module,	Hyper-V	~		Add to Gri	d		CimSe	ssion	^	R	lemove Filter
or use in		indicts list	Module to	o import					Compu	uterName ntial			
Or you	can pick SMA	Runbook(s)							VM				Add to Grid
M	lodule	Name	Parameter	ValidateSet	Valid	atePattern			Name				
		New-GPO	Name				1		Save				
		New-GPO	Domain										
		New-GPO	Server						TurnOt	Ħ			
		Get-VM							Force				
		Get-Command											
		Measure-Object	Property						AsJob				
		Measure-Object	Sum						Passth	nu			
		Measure-Object	Average								~		
		Measure-Object	Maximum										
		Measure-Object	Minimum										
		Add Row	Remove	Selected Row	(s)	Rem	nove A	II Row:	s	Refresh Role Ca	apability O	utput	
Visible('Get-VN 'Get-Co @{Name: {Name: Visiblef	Cmdlets=@{N M', ommand', ne ='Measure- ='Minimum'} } Functions=	ame ='New-GPO'; Object'; Parameter	Parameters= s=@{Name=	@{Name='N	ame'}, @{Nar	@{Name	='Dom , @{N	ame=	@{Nam	ne='Server'} }, e'}, @{Name='Ma	aximum'},	Ø	
											[Сору	to Clipboard

Selecting the allowed parameters of a cmdlet

The tool offers additional features such as creating a .psrc skeleton with *New-PSRoleCapabilityFile* or a new session configuration. Because of the cumbersome operation, you will usually do without it.

4.2.4 Saving the role capability file

Once you have created the list of permitted cmdlets and parameters, you can add them to the .psrc file. You save this file in a directory called *RoleCapabilities* under

\$env:ProgramFiles\WindowsPowerShell\Modules

4.2.5 Assigning role functions to session configuration

The last step is to link the role capabilities to the desired session configuration. To do this, edit the configuration file with the extension .pssc and add the role functions there.

Since you create this file automatically at the beginning, this (commented out) section for *RoleDefinitions* should already be there:

```
# RoleDefinitions = @{ 'CONTOSO\SqlAdmins' = `
@{ RoleCapabilities = 'SqlAdministration' };
'CONTOSO\SqlManaged' = @{ RoleCapabilityFiles =
'C:\RoleCapability\SqlManaged.psrc' };
'CONTOSO\ServerMonitors' = `
```

```
@{ VisibleCmdlets = 'Get-Process' } }
```

Following the same pattern, you now add your own entry, whereby you have 3 options, as shown in the example. The last of these defines the allowed cmdlets directly in the Session Configuration File and is therefore not applicable if you use a .psrc file.

If you save your .psrc file under the name *SqlManaged.psrc* in the module path as described above, the entry could look like this:

```
RoleDefinitions = @{ 'contoso\SqlAdmins' = `
@{ RoleCapabilities = 'SqlAdministration' }};
```

This gives the *SqlAdmins* group from the contoso domain the role capabilities defined in *SqlManaged.psrc*.

```
      BitWordspuel

      GUID = '9daa@2f-304a-4589-9044-6dc4faa198e2'

      #

      #

      Author of this document

      Author = 'root'

      #

      #

      Description of the functionality provided by these settings

      #

      #

      Description = ''

      #

      #

      Description = ''

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #

      #
```

Options for defining role capabilities in a session configuration file

If you have chosen a different location to save the file, then you have to proceed as shown in the last entry in the example and enter the name of the file including the path as value for *RoleCapabilityFiles*.

Finally, you have to update the session configuration using the following command:

```
Set-PSSessionConfiguration -Name MySessionConfig `
-Path .\MyConfig.pssc
```

5 Audit PowerShell activities

5.1 Log commands in a transcription file

In order to detect the abuse of PowerShell, you can record all executed commands and scripts. There are two mechanisms for this, one of them writes all input and output to a file. It is recommended to store the collected data in a central location.

Microsoft describes the form of recording, where PowerShell logs all processed inputs and the resulting output in one file, as "over-the-shouldertranscription". This term reflects that PowerShell writes to a file what an observer would see when he looks over the shoulder of the user during his PowerShell session.

5.1.1 Activate logging using a cmdlet

This variant has been around since the early days of PowerShell and, in the past, could be controlled only explicitly by using the *Start-Transcript* and *Stop-Transcript* cmdlets. To enable automatic recording of the commands, you had to include the *Start-Transcript* call in the PowerShell profile.

Not only is this cumbersome if you have to configure many machines in this way, but it is also relatively easy for an attacker to circumvent this method. However, explicitly starting and stopping the recording using a cmdlet can be useful if you include it in your own scripts to see what output they produce.

5.1.2 Enabling transcripts via GPO

Since PowerShell 5, you can turn on transcripts using group policy. The corresponding setting is called *Turn on PowerShell Transcription* and can be found under *Policies => Administrative Templates => Windows Components => Windows PowerShell*.

Turn on PowerShell Transcription	- 0	×
Turn on PowerShell Transcription	Previous Setting Next Setting	
O Not <u>C</u> onfigured Comment:		^
● <u>E</u> nabled		
O Disabled		\sim
Supported on:	At least Microsoft Windows 7 or Windows Server 2008 family	^
.		~
Options:	Help:	
Transcript output directory \\ws2019-en\Users\Public\PSLog	This policy setting lets you capture the input and output of Windows PowerShell commands into text-based transcripts.	^
Include invocation headers:	If you enable this policy setting, Windows PowerShell will enable transcripting for Windows PowerShell, the Windows PowerShell ISE, and any other applications that leverage the Windows PowerShell engine. By default, Windows PowerShell will record transcript output to each users' My Documents directory, with a file name that includes 'PowerShell transcript', along with the computer name and time started. Enabling this policy is equivalent to calling the Start-Transcript cmdlet on each Windows PowerShell session. If you disable this policy setting, transcripting of PowerShell-based applications is disabled by default, although transcripting can still be enable through the Start-Transcript cmdlet. If you use the OutputDirectory setting to enable transcript logging to a shared location, be sure to limit access to that directory to prevent users	d
	OK Cancel Appl	/

Enable PowerShell transcripts via GPO. Optionally, specify a separate directory and activate the timestamp.

If you activate it under both branches (computer and user configuration), the setting is enforced at the computer level.

5.1.3 Own log file for each session

By default, the feature creates a directory in the user's profile for each day and writes the entries for each session to a separate text file, whose name consists of "PowerShell_transcript" plus the hostname of the computer and a random number.

Name

PowerShell_transcript.WIN10ENT-VM1-L1.NTjMztd2.20190607195746.txt
 PowerShell_transcript.WIN10ENT-VM1-L1.jXK722NC.20190607195547.txt
 PowerShell_transcript.WIN10-1903.9+IrvEor.20190607195401.txt
 PowerShell_transcript.WIN10ENT-VM1-L1.GAWmITGZ.20190607164430.txt
 PowerShell_transcript.WIN10-1903.UC2p1Y8y.20190607162745.txt
 PowerShell_transcript.WIN10-1903.OcxR5xZ3.20190607145154.txt
 PowerShell_transcript.WIN10-1903.Fmx5Fl+s.20190607152736.txt

PowerShell creates a separate log file for each session on each computer.

Of course, it makes sense to store the records centrally on a shared directory on the network. The *Start-Transcript cmdlet* uses the *OutputDirectory* parameter to redirect output from the default directory to another. The GPO setting for activating the transcripts includes a separate input field for this purpose.

5.1.4 Protecting the log directory

Usually you will want to avoid that users read or even change the contents of these log files. On the one hand, they may contain sensitive information such as passwords, on the other hand, the necessary write permission would make it easy for an attacker to cover his tracks. Therefore, you have to prevent users from viewing the files and their contents.

For this purpose, Microsoft recommends restricting the NTFS rights on the shared directory.

Permission	Entry for PSLog		-		×
Principal:	Everyone Select a principal				
Type:	Allow				
Applies to:	This folder, subfolders and files $\qquad \qquad \lor$]			
Basic permi	ssions:		Show advanced	d permissi	ions
	Full control				
	Modify Read & succuta				
	List folder contents				
	Read				
N	Write				
	Special permissions				
Only app	ly these permissions to objects and/or containers with	hin this container		Clear al	I
Add a cond	tion to limit access. The principal will be granted the	specified permissions only if conditions are met.			
A <u>d</u> d a cond	tion				
			ОК	Can	cel

Everybody' gets only the rights to 'Read' and 'Write'.

Specifically, you should proceed as follows:

- Disable inheritance for the configured log directory, remove all existing permissions
- Administrators get full access
- Everyone gets the right to 'Write'
- Creator owner is deprived of all rights

lame:	C:\Users\Public\PSLogs									
vner: Wolfgang Sommergut (WINDOWSPRO\Wolf) <u>Change</u>										
	Replace owner on subconta	iners and objects								
ermissions	Auditing Effective Ac	cess Central Policy								
rmission er Type	ntries: Principal	Access	Inherited from	Applies to						
& Allow	Evervone	Write	None	This folder, subfolders and files						
Allow	Domänen-Admins (WINDOW	Full control	None	This folder, subfolders and files						
& Allow	CREATOR OWNER	None	None	Subfolders and files only						
A <u>d</u> d	<u>R</u> emove <u>V</u> iew									
	eritance									
Enable <u>i</u> nh										

Permissions for the PowerShell log directory

Another option for both *Start-Transcript* and GPO settings is to write a header for each call. This contains a timestamp for the respective command.

Log commands in a transcription file

PowerShell_trans	cript.WIN10-1809-EN.ZF4FXE	Dn.20200715210335.txt - Not	epad				
Eile Edit Format	View Help						
Windows Powe Start time: Username: WU RunAs User: Configuratic Machine: WIT Host Applica Process ID: PSCersion: U PSCention: I PSCompatible BuildVersion: WSManstackVW PSRemotingPr Serializatic	ershell transcr: 20200715210335 INDOWSPRO\ADixon WINDOWSPRO\ADixon Name: 110-1809-EN (Mi ation: C:\Window 7948 5.1.17763.1007 504 2005 200 2007 2007	ipt start n crosoft Windows ws\System32\Wind 2.0, 3.0, 4.0, 0 2.3 0.1 15210347	NT 10.0.1 dowsPowerSI 5.0, 5.1.	7763.0) hell\v1.0\powe	ershell.exe		
PS C:\Users	ADixon> Get-Vol	lume					
DriveLetter	FriendlyName	FileSystemType	DriveType	HealthStatus	OperationalStatus	SizeRemaining	Size
C D	Profile-ADixon Recovery	NTFS NTFS NTFS Unknown	Fixed Fixed Fixed CD-ROM	Healthy Healthy Healthy Healthy	OK OK OK Unknown	28.78 GB 482.8 MB 31.65 GB Ø B	29.3 GB 499 MB 63.4 GB Ø B
Command star	**************************************	15210600	•+ *				

Transcript with header and timestamp for each command

If this option is used, the volume of recorded data increases considerably. Since the header in each file already contains detailed information about the session, you will usually not need the additional time stamp for each action.

5.1.5 GPO does not work for PowerShell 6/7

The *PowerShellExecutionPolicy.admx* administrative template writes only the registry values for Windows PowerShell, so that *EnableTranscripting* does not affect PowerShell Core or PowerShell 7.

For version 6, you must therefore set the required key in the registry yourself. The following content for a .reg file shows the names of the two DWORDs and the path where you have to create them.

```
Windows Registry Editor Version 5.00
```

```
[HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Policies\Microsoft\Pow-
erShellCore\Transcription]
"EnableTranscripting"=dword:00000001
"OutputDirectory"="\\server\\pslogs"
```

If you want to set these settings on a larger number of computers, it is recommended to adjust the registry using the Group Policy Preferences.

PowerShell 7 comes with its own ADMX template which can be copied to %systemroot%\policydefinitions or to the Central Store. The settings for version 7 are located in the GPO Editor directly under *Administrative Templates* in the *PowerShell Core* container (both computer and user).

Enabling Transcription Logging for PowerShell 7 via Group Policy

The policies are largely identical to those for Windows PowerShell, and the same is true for *Turn on PowerShell Transcription*. It is particularly useful that each setting has the option *Use Windows PowerShell Policy setting* so that you don't have to manage PowerShell 7 separately.

5.2 Scriptblock logging: Record commands in the event log

To detect suspicious activities, it is helpful to have all executed commands recorded. In addition to recording the history in a text file, PowerShell has also supported logging in the event log since version 5.

PowerShell v5 included several innovations in logging. It extended the older method, the so-called "over-the-shoulder transcription," to all PS hosts, including ISE, and hence was no longer limited to the command line. Furthermore, this feature can now also be activated via group policies.

5.2.1 Logging the actual commands

The recording of all commands in a text file has been complemented by the so-called *deep scriptblock logging*. It not only uses the Windows event log instead of a text file, but also records all commands exactly as executed by PowerShell. This way, malicious activity does not easily go unnoticed.

This applies, for example, to the use of dynamic code generation, where commands are stored in a variable and then executed with the help of *Invoke-Expression*. The feature also reveals attempts to hide command sequences by encoding them using Base64.

5.2.2 Activation only via GPO

While transcriptions can also be explicitly turned on and off using the *Start-Transcript and Stop-Transcript* cmdlets, you can enable script block

logging only by using GPOs or by setting the appropriate registry key directly. Therefore, there is still a need for the older method, such as recording the output in your own scripts.

Group policy to enable deep scriptblock logging

The relevant GPO setting is called *Turn on PowerShell Script Block Logging* and can be found under *Policies > Administrative Templates > Windows Components > Windows PowerShell*. If you configure it under Computer and User Configuration, the former setting prevails.

If you select the option for *start/stop*, then you should expect a considerably higher data volume because markers for the start and stop of all events will be written to the log.

5.2.3 Preparing the event log

While you prepare the logging in text files by creating a directory on a file share and assigning the necessary access rights, different preparatory work is required for the newer logging.

Start by changing the maximum size of the event log from the default of 20 MB to a significantly higher value. This is required for two reasons: First, depending on the configuration of the logging feature, a relatively large amount of data is accumulated. Second, attackers should not be able to simply cover their tracks by filling up the log relatively quickly with unsuspicious entries.

Since the evaluation of the logs is left either to scripts developed for this purpose or to SIEM tools, the recorded events are needed at a central location. For this purpose, forward the entries written by PowerShell to a computer in the network.

Windows Powe	rShell			- 0	×
PS C:∖Use	rs\wolf.WINDOWSPRO>	Get-WinEven	t -ListLog *PowerShell*		
LogMode	MaximumSizeInBytes	RecordCount	LogName		
Circular Circular	15728640 15728640	221 47	Windows PowerShell PowerShellCore/Operational		
Circular	15728640	6136	Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell/Operational		
Ketain Circular	1048985600 1052672	0 0	Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell/Admin Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell-DesiredState	Conf.	

The logging is done under PowerShell/Operational

5.2.4 Event IDs

The logging takes place in the application log under *Microsoft=> Windows* => *PowerShell => Operational*, and the commands are recorded under
event ID 4104. If you also record start and stop events, these appear under the IDs 4105 and 4106.

Event Viewer (Local)	Custom Views						
 Event Viewer (Local) Custom Views SeverRoles Administrative Events Minduit registry Windows Logs Applications and Services Logs Subscriptions 	Custom Views Name Description ServerRoles Administrative Events Administrative Events Critical, Error and Warning events from all administrative logs Create Custom View > Filter XML Logged: Any time Event level: Critical By log Event logs: Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell/Admin,Microv Includes/Excludes Event IDs: PowerShell (Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell), Ivertion (Microv) Includes/Excludes Event IDs: Event-PowerShell (Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell), Ivertion (Microv) Includes/Excludes Event IDs: Event-PowerShell (Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell), Ivertion (Microv) PowerShell (Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell) All Event IDs: V PowerShell (Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell) V PowerShell (PowerShell) V PowerShell (PowerShell) < PowerShell (PowerShell) PowerShell (PowerShell) PowerShell (PowerS						

Custom filter in the event viewer for recorded script blocks

If you want to set up a user-defined filter for the recorded commands in the event viewer, activate as source

- PowerShell (Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell),
- PowerShell (PowerShell)
- PowerShellCore

In addition, select *Warning* as the event type and enter 4104 as the ID.

5.2.5 Merging command sequences

While transcripts can write their data to a text file with virtually no limits, the script block field in the event log limits the length of the record. Therefore, longer scripts are split up and span several entries.

On Microsoft Docs, there is a <u>template</u> for a PowerShell script that can be used to reassemble the log fragments. If for example you want to string together all recordings for a process with ID 6524, then you could proceed as follows:

```
$created = Get-WinEvent -FilterHashtable `
@{ProviderName="Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell"; Id=4104} |
where ProcessId -eq 6524
$sortedScripts = $created | sort {$_.Properties[0].Value}
$mergedScript = -join ($sortedScripts |
foreach {$ .Properties[2].Value})
```

5.2.6 Script block logging for PowerShell Core

As with transcripts, group policy enables logging of script blocks only for Windows PowerShell. It has no effect on PowerShell Core 6.x and its successor, PowerShell 7.

If you want to record the commands for version 6.x in the event log, you have to set the registry key yourself. To do this, create the *ScriptBlockLog-ging* key under

```
HKLM\SOFTWARE\Policies\Microsoft\PowerShellCore
```

and assign the value 1 to *EnableScriptBlockLogging*.

The following instructions in a .reg file will accomplish this task:

Scriptblock logging: Record commands in the event log

```
Windows Registry Editor Version 5.00
```

```
[HKEY_LOCAL_MACHINE\SOFTWARE\Policies\Microsoft\Pow-
erShellCore\ScriptBlockLogging] "EnableScriptBlockLog-
ging"=dword:0000001
```

PowerShell 7, on the other hand, includes its own ADMX template, which you can copy to %systemroot%\policydefinitions or to the central store. It contains all the settings known from PowerShell 5, including those for scriptblock logging.



Group policy settings for PowerShell 7

Finally, it should be noted that the log entries for PowerShell Core are located directly under the *Applications and Services* logs. The event IDs for logging are the same as for Windows PowerShell.

5.3 Issuing certificates for document encryption

Beginning with version 5, PowerShell supports the IETF standard Cryptographic Message Syntax (CMS) to encrypt data or log entries. It requires a certificate that has been issued specifically for this purpose. If you want to request the certificate from a Windows CA, you must first set up a template for it.

Microsoft's instructions, for example, for Protect-CmsMessage (<u>bit.ly/2XPVQzB</u>), always describe the procedure for issuing a self-signed certificate with certreq.exe for document encryption. They pack the data for requesting the certificate into an .inf file according to the following pattern:

```
[Version]
Signature = "$Windows NT$"
[Strings]
szOID_ENHANCED_KEY_USAGE = "2.5.29.37"
szOID_DOCUMENT_ENCRYPTION = "1.3.6.1.4.1.311.80.1"
[NewRequest]
Subject = "cn=me@somewhere.com"
MachineKeySet = false
KeyLength = 2048
KeySpec = AT_KEYEXCHANGE
HashAlgorithm = Sha1
Exportable = true
RequestType = Cert
```

Issuing certificates for document encryption

```
KeyUsage = "CERT_KEY_ENCIPHERMENT_KEY_USAGE |
CERT_DATA_ENCIPHERMENT_KEY_USAGE"
ValidityPeriod = "Years"
ValidityPeriodUnits = "1000"
[Extensions]
%szOID_ENHANCED_KEY_USAGE% = "{text}%szOID_DOCUMENT_EN-
CRYPTION%"
```

To request the certificate, use the command:

```
certreq -new <INF-file-name>.inf <Certificate-name>.cer
```

The certificate is automatically copied to the local certificate store of the logged-on user. If needed, you can export it and transfer it via GPO to the computers on which you want to encrypt data (<u>bit.ly/300QJ4o</u>).

5.3.1 Creating a template for enterprise CA

If you prefer a certificate issued by an internal Windows CA instead of a self-signed certificate, the required template is missing by default. If you want to create one, you can follow the settings of the above .inf file.

First, open the Certificate Templates Console, *certtmpl.msc*, and duplicate a suitable existing template. In our example, we will use the template *User*.

Certificate Templates Console		
File Action View Help		
🔶 🏓 🔲 🗐 🔛 📑		
Certificate Templates (WS2012-E	Template Display Name	Schema Version
	R Arbeitsstationsauthentifizierung	2
	R Authentifizierte Sitzung	1
	Basis-EFS	1
	Ben Duplicate Template	1
	CEP CEP	1
	Cod All Tasks >	1
	Con Properties	1
	Dok Properties	2
	🖳 Don Help	1
	Domanencontrollerauthentifizierung	2

Duplicate an existing template as a basis for the new template for document encryption

Then assign the name for the new template under the *General* tab and determine the template's period of validity.

	Properties of	New Tem	plate			×
	Subject N	Name	Ser	ver	Issuance R	equirements
	Supersec	ded Templa	tes	Ext	ensions	Security
Template Disp	Compatibility	General	Request	Handling	Cryptography	Key Attestation
Administra Administra Administra Atheitsstat Authentifiz Basis-EFS Benutzer CCP-Versch CCP-Versch Codesignat Computer Dokument Dokument Domänenc Domänenc Domänenc Domänenc EFS-Wiede Enrollment Enrollment Exchange E Exchange-I	Template dis Document I Document E Validity perio	ime: incryption incryption id: irs ~ eertificate in ot automatic tory	Active Di	Renewa 6 rectory bil if a dupl	al period: weeks ~	exists in Active
	Template Disp Administra Arbeitsstat Authentifiz Basis-EFS Benutzer CoP-Versch Codesigna Computer Dokument Domänenc Domänenc EFS-Wiede Enrollment Exchange E Exchange F Exchange F	Properties of Subject I Superse Compatibility Administra Arbeitsstati Authentifiz Basis-EFS Benutzer Computer Occument I Occument I Obwanent Validity perior Domänenc EFS-Wiede Enrollment Exchange E Exchange E	Properties of New Temp Subject Name Superseded Templat Decument Encryption Athentifiz Athentifiz Authentifiz Authentifiz Document Encryption Codesigna Codesigna Codesigna Codesigna Dokument Dokument Dowanenc Domanenc Domanenc Domanenc Domanenc ErS-Wiede Enrollment Do not automatic Directory	Properties of New Template Subject Name Sen Subject Name Template display name: Document Encryption Sen Subject Computer DocumentEncryption Domanenc Image: Sen Subject Sen Sen Domanenc Publish centficate in Active Dimetory Subject Sen Directory Subject Sen Directory	Properties of New Template Subject Name Server Subject Name Server Superseded Templates Ext Compatibility General Request Handling Administra Template display name: Document Encryption Authentifiz Basis-EFS Template name: CCP-Versch Document Encryption Ocument Encryption Q Codesigna Image: 6 Dowanenc 1 years 6 Domänenc 1 years 6 Enrollment Publish certificate in Active Directory 6 Exchange E Dor on automatically reenroll if a duple Directory Directory	Properties of New Template Subject Name Server Issuance R Superseded Templates Extensions Compatibility General Request Handling Cryptography Administra Template display name: Document Encryption Document Encryption Authentifiz Template name: Document Encryption Document Encryption Computer DocumentEncryption General Renewal period: Dokument Validity period: Renewal period: General Domänenc 1 years 6 weeks Enrollment Dont automatically reenrol if a duplicate certificate of Directory Directory Exchange E Exchange E Directory Directory

Assign name to the new template

Next, change the purpose on the *Request Handling* tab to *Encryption*. Here, you can also allow the private key to be exported if certificates for document encryption are needed on several computers to decrypt documents.

Certificate Templates Console		Properties of N	Vew Tem	plate			×
File Action View Help		Subject N	ame	Ser	ver	Issuance F	Requirements
🗢 🄿 📰 🔛 🗟 🚺 🛅		Supersed	ed Templa	ates	Exte	ensions	Security
🖳 Certificate Templates (WS2012-[emplate Disp	Compatibility	General	Request	Handling	Cryptography	Key Attestation
a de la companya de l	Administra	Purpose:	Encry	ption			~
	Arbeitsstat		De	lete revok	ed or expin	ed certificates (d	lo not archive)
	Authentifiz			Luda auno	en er enpir	alare alleved by	the extract
1.2	Basis-EFS			iude symn	ietric algori	trims allowed by	the subject
4	Benutzer		Arc	hive subje	ect's encry	otion private key	1
1	CEP-Versch						
	Codesigna						
	Computer						
	Dokument						
	Domänenc		te kevite	he event	ad		
<u>,</u>	Domänenc		ale key lu	De export	eu		
1.2	EFS-Wiede	Renew wi	th the sam	ne key (*)			
	Enrollment	<u>F</u> or autom	atic renew	al of smar	t card certi	ficates, use the	existing key if a
	Enrollment	new key c	cannot be	created (*)		
	Exchange	De the fellow	ing when t	he eulaise	t is smaller	d and when the	niunte kou
, and the second se	Exchange-	associated wi	ing when i ith this cer	tificate is u	used:	and when the	private key
, and the second se	IPSec	Enroll subi	iect withou	rt requiring	anv user i	nout	
, a	IPsec (Offli			at requiring	, any accr	- por	
, I	Kerberos-A	O Prompt the	e user duri	ng enrollm	ent		
1	Key Recove	Prompt the	e <u>u</u> ser duri	ng enrollm	ent and re	quire user input	when the
	Nur Benutz	- private ke	y is used				
	Nur Exchar	* Control is di	sabled due	e to <u>comp</u>	atibility sett	ings.	
, a	OCSP-Ant						
	RAS- und		OK		Cancel	Apply	Help

Change the purpose of the certificate template to "Encryption."

As with the .inf file shown above, the key length should be at least 2048 bits; the corresponding setting is found on the *Cryptography* tab.

Configure the necessary settings on the *Extensions* tab. Here, we edit the *Application Policies* and remove all existing entries. Instead, we add *Document Encryption*.

Subject Name	Server	Issuance R	equirements		
Superseded Templa	Hequest Handling stes Ed	Cryptography tensions	Security	Edit Application Policies Extension	× tions
fo modify an extension	, select it, and then	click Edit.		An application policy defines how a certificate can be	rtificate Templates (WS2012-DC.windowspro.local)
Extensions included in t	histenplate:			used.	More Actions
Application Policies	-			Application policies:	nutzer
Basic Constraints Certificate Templats Issuance Policies Key Usage	e Information		Edt		Add Application Policy An application policy laded enhanced key usage in Windows 2000, offense how a certificate and be used. Select the application policy in for valid signatures of certificates issued by this template. Application policies: Restation identity Key Certificate BitLocker Data Resource y Agent
Vescription of Applicati Encrypting File System Secure Email Client Authentication	on Policies:		×	Add Eds Remove	BitLocker Dive Encyption Cerfficite Request Agent Code Signing Distance Distance Directory Service Environ Directory Service Environ Directory Service Environ Directory Service Directory Servi
ок	Cancel	Apply	Help	P Signing	<u>New</u>

Document encryption is added to the application policies

By default, the new certificate is used to encrypt the CERT_KEY_ENCI-PHERMENT_KEY_USAGE certificates in the .inf file, which is sufficient for the task described here. If you want to add CERT_DATA_ENCIPHER-MENT_KEY_USAGE, then edit the *Key Usage* entry and select the *Allow encryption of user data* option in the next dialog box.

Issuing certificates for document encryption

roperties of New Tem	plate		×		
Subject Name	Server	Issuance	Requirements		
Compatibility General	Request Handling	Cryptography	Key Attestation		
Superseded Templ	ates Ext	tensions	Security	nded Purposes	Actions
To modify an extension	n, select it, and then	click Edit.		Edit Key Usage Extension	×
Extensions included in Application Policie Basic Constraints Certificate Templat Issuance Policies	this template: s :e Information			Specify the required signature and security options for a extension. Signature [gigtal signature [gignature is proof of origin (nonrepudiation) [Cettificate signing [CBL signing]	key usage
Description of Key Usa Allow key exchange o Critical extension.	ige: nly with key encrypti	ion	Edt	Encryption Allow key exchange without key encryption (key a Allow key exchange only with key encryption (key Allow encryption of user data	igreement) enciphement)
			~	Make this extension critical	Cancel
ОК	Cancel	Apply	Help	P Signing nt Authentication, Server Authentication	

Enable encryption of user data when using keys

Finally, use the *Security* tab to make sure all users who request a certificate based on this template have the *Read* and *Register* permissions.

5.3.2 Requesting a certificate

Now you can request your certificate using *certmgr.msc*. If you can't find your new template in the list or it has a status of *Unavailable* in the extended view, then try this troubleshooting tip.

In the details, enter the subject name in the format specified in the template. Under *Private key => Key options*, make sure it is exportable, if required.

◆ ◆ 2 m 0 0 ₪ 0 0 m					
Control Contro Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Control Co	Cestificite Enrollment Request Certificates Vou can expect the following types of the following optimum of Cestificates Ce	Conflicates. Select the conflicates you wa U STATUS: Available U STATUS: Available U STATUS: Available In sease and adday peoled that apply to the cipherment. Hercyption	Certificite Properties General Address Destination Advances Specification Advances Specification advances and		
Personal store contains no certificates.			Enroll Cancel	Valge: Ad	d > move

Request a certificate based on the new template

After you click *Enroll*, the new certificate should appear in the store of the *Current User*.

5.4 Encrypt event logs and files with PowerShell and GPO

A feature introduced with Windows 10 and Server 2016 is *Protected Event Logging*, which encrypts sensitive data in the event log. It uses the open standard Cryptographic Message Syntax (CMS), which PowerShell supports with several cmdlets. You can also use them to encrypt or decrypt files.

You may wonder why you should encrypt Windows log files. This feature was triggered by the introduction of scriptblock logging in PowerShell 5, which stores all entered commands in the event log. These commands may also include credentials, which should not be visible to unauthorized persons.

5.4.1 Activation via group policies

Basically, *Protected Event Logging* is a system-wide feature that can be used by all applications and Windows services. If you activate it under Windows 10, PowerShell is currently the only user of this encryption.

To enable secure event logging, Microsoft provides a setting in Group Policy. It is called *Enable Protected Event Logging* and can be found under *Computer Configuration => Policies => Administrative Templates => Windows Components => Event Logging*.



The encryption of PowerShell entries in the event log can be enabled via group policies

To successfully activate this setting, a certificate specifically issued for document encryption is required. Its public key is used to encode the log entries. The GPO editor accepts several ways to link the policy to the certificate.

You can store it on a file share and specify its path. If the certificate is available in the store of the local computer, the user's fingerprint will also suffice. A simple method is to export the certificate in Base64 encoded form, the contents of which can simply be copied into the text field.

5.4.2 Decrypting logs with PowerShell

Once the GPO is in effect, you can no longer read the event log history of the PowerShell commands entered on those machines. However, the Event Viewer lacks the necessary functions to decode the logs using the private key.



The Event Viewer only presents the encrypted entries; it cannot decode them

Therefore, you must make these log entries readable with PowerShell. The *Unprotect-CmsMessage cmdlet*, the opposite of *Protect-CmsMessage*, decrypts them.

For example, if you want to decipher the latest entry in the PowerShell log, you could retrieve it via Get-WinEvent and pipe it to *Unprotect-CmsMessage*:

```
$msg = Get-WinEvent `
Microsoft-Windows-PowerShell/Operational `
-ComputerName myPC -MaxEvents 2 -Credential domain\user
"Last log entry as clear text:"
```

\$msg[1] | select -ExpandProperty Message |

Unprotect-CmsMessage

\$msg[0] is always "prompt"



Decrypting PowerShell logs with Unprotect-CmsMessage

A complete script for this purpose can be found on Emin Atac's blog (bit.ly/2DM85Gx)

The problem with script block logging is that longer command sequences are split across multiple log entries. Therefore, in this case you would have to aggregate the individual sections and then pass them to *Unprotect-CmsMessage*.

5.4.3 Encrypting files

Protect-CmsMessage can also be used to encrypt any file. If their contents are binary, then you should convert to a Base64 representation first.

Usage scenarios here may also include protecting sensitive data in scripts or password files against unauthorized access. However, this technology is certainly not intended as an alternative to an encrypting file system or even a Bitlocker.

Because PowerShell uses the cryptographic message syntax standard, you can decrypt encoded files using other tools on different platforms, such as OpenSSL on Linux (<u>bit.ly/2E21l6Y</u>). Therefore, this PowerShell feature is also suitable for exchanging confidential data between different operating systems.

The process is relatively simple. *Protect-CmsMessage* expects the input file via the *Path* parameter. Alternatively, you can provide the contents to be encrypted via the *Content* parameter or via a pipeline. The target file is specified via *OutFile*; otherwise, the output is stdout.



Simple application of Protect-CmsMessage and Unprotect-CmsMessage

Other required information includes the certificate you want to use. The parameter *To*, which accepts the fingerprint, subject name, or path to a certificate, serves this purpose.

Conversely, *Unprotect-CmsMessage* only needs the content for decryption (via *Content* or *Path*); passing it via a pipe is also possible. The *To* parameter can be omitted if the certificate is in the local store.

5.4.4 Problems with the character set

Watch out for the character encoding of files. Otherwise, you will be surprised by a distorted result after decryption. This is the case, for example, with the following procedure:

```
Get-Process > process.txt
Protect-CmsMessage -Path process.txt -out process.enc `
-To 61F4C2FFF9CC...
```

Unprotect-CmsMessage -Path process.enc

Encrypt event logs and files with PowerShell and GPO

2	Administrator: Windows Power	Shell				- 🗆 ×
PS 151	C:\Users\root>	Unprotect-CmsMess	age -Path .\process.	enc		î
н s I	andles Proces	NPM(K) sName	РМ(К)	WS(K)	CPU(s)	Id
-						
	2 5 8	16	4192	21776	0.28	664
2	Applic	ationFram	eHost			
2	247 conhos	13 t	6408	22932	3,16	4544
2	250 conhos	1 3 t	4216	20544	0,66	4756
0	327 csrss	1 2	2212	5144	0,39	440
1	158 csrss	9	1656	4680	0,06	516
2	371 csrss	18	2256	5816	2,47	3884

Incorrect character encoding destroys content during encryption and decryption

To avoid such unwanted effects, save the output using:

Get-Process | Out-File -FilePath process.txt `

-Encoding utf8

If you prefer the first variant with redirection to a file, then you must convert the content to the correct character set when it is read for encryption:

Get-Content -Raw -Encoding UTF8 process.txt |

Protect-CmsMessage -To "CN=Max White" -out .\process.enc

Administra	ator: Windows Pow	erShell					-
PS C:\Us PS C:\Us PS C:\Us	sers\root> sers\root> sers\root>	Get-Proc Protect- Unprotec	ess Out-F: CmsMessage t-CmsMessage	ile -FilePa -To BDDD444 e -Path .\	ath .\p 0793188 process	oroc 3FD	ress.txt -Encoding utf8 WF22F8259CBE61F4C2FFF9CC -Path .\process.txt -out process.enc nc
Handles	NPM(K)	PM(K)	WS(K)	CPU(s)	Id	SI	[ProcessName
258	16	4192	21780	0,28	664		2 ApplicationFrameHost
247	13	7548	23652	5,42	4544		2 conhost
250	13	4216	20564	0,66	4756		2 conhost
336	13	2212	5156	0,39	440	0) csrss
158	9	1656	4680	0,06	516	1	L csrss
371	18	2252	5816	2,52	3884	2	2 csrss
402	15	4884	15916	0,48	4120	2	2 ctfmon
211	16	3468	11644	0,02	6056	2	2 dllhost
524	21	16608	25708	0,09	1020	1	L dwm
668	35	31440	99568	4,59	4024	2	2 dwm
1777	73	30636	106712	11.89	4312	2	2 explorer
48	6	1376	3556	0.03	808	1	fontdryhost
48		1428	3624	0,00	812	0) fontdrvhost

Correct decoding of encrypted data when using UTF-8

With this variant, you can take advantage of the appropriate features of *Get-Content*.

5.5 Audit PowerShell keys in the registry

The Windows registry contains numerous security-critical settings an attacker can manipulate to override important protection mechanisms. For example, an attacker can abuse it to bypass group policies. Auditing the registry helps identify such undesirable activities.

If you want to protect PowerShell against misuse and record all commands executed from the command line in a log file, a hacker probably wants to disable this function to leave no traces. To do this, he could set the value of *EnableTranscripting* to 0. This key is under:

```
HKLM\SOFTWARE\Policies\Microsoft\Windows\Pow-
erShell\Transcription
```

To find out about such manipulations, you should monitor the relevant keys in the registry. In our example, these would be those set by Group Policy Objects (GPOs) for PowerShell. As with auditing the file system, three measures are required:

- Enable registry monitoring via GPO
- Configure the system access control list (SACL) for the resource in question
- Analyze the event log

5.5.1 Activate registry auditing

The first step is to create a GPO and link it to the organizational unit (OU) whose machines you wish to monitor for changes to the PowerShell keys in the registry.

Next, open the new policy in the GPO editor and navigate to *Computer Configuration => Policies => Windows Settings => Security Settings => Advanced Audit Policy Configuration => Audit Policies => Object Access*. (Microsoft has deprecated the settings under *Security Settings => Local Policies => Audit Policy* since Windows 7.)



Activate auditing for registration via GPO

There you activate the *Audit Registry* setting, where you see two options: *Success* and *Failure*. Deciding whether you want to record failed, successful, or both accesses depends on the type and importance of the resource. However, you should find a balance between the relevance of the recorded events and the amount of data generated.

In our example, we limit ourselves only to *Success* to find out when the value of a key actually changed. Executing this command on the target computers activates the group policy:

gpupdate /force

And now you can customize the SACL for the registry key.

5.5.2 Setting permissions for registry keys

To do this, navigate in *regedit.exe* to the described position in the registry hive and execute the *Permissions* command from the *PowerShell* key context menu. In the subsequent dialog, click on *Advanced* and open the *Auditing* tab in the next dialog.



Editing the SACL for registry keys under PowerShell

Here you add a new entry. First, choose a security principle for tracking, such as *Everyone*. In the next step, define which activities to record. For our purpose, we select *Query Value*, *Set Value*, and *Delete* to record that a value for this key has changed.

Auditing E	ntry for PowerShell				-		×
Principal:	Everyone Select a principal						
Type:	Success	\sim					
Applies to:	This key and subkeys	~					
Advanced p	ermissions:				Show basi	c permiss	sions
	Full Control		Create Link				
Г	Query Value		✓ Delete	1			
	Set Value		Write DAC				
_	Create Subkey		Write Owner	•			
	Enumerate Subkeys		Read Control				
	Notify						
	ly these auditing settings to objects and/or con	ntainers within this co	ontainer		[Clear a	II
	y great dualing seconds to objects and, or con						_
					OK	Car	icel

Select the type of accesses to record in the audit log

Again, you should keep in mind that monitoring *full access* may generate too much data, especially if you configure the SACL further up in the registry tree.

5.5.3 Configuring SACL via GPO

When changing the SACL of this key in the registry of many computers, it makes sense to use a GPO. You can configure the necessary setting under *Computer Configuration => Policies => Windows Settings => Security Settings => Registry*.

There you open the context menu of the container or right-click in the right panel. Then execute the *Add Key* command. In the following dialog, navigate through the registry until you reach the desired key. If this key does not exist on the local machine, you may also type the path into the input field.



You can also change the SACL of a registry key via a GPO

After selecting a key, the same security dialog opens as described above for *regedit.exe*. Therefore, the following procedure is the same as for configuring the SACL in the registry editor.

5.5.4 Evaluating the event log

Finally, you should monitor the entries in the event log to discover suspicious activities. Find these in the *Security* protocol with the IDs 4656, 4657, 4660, and 4663. As we are only interested in changes in this specific case,

the Event IDs 4657 and 4660 are sufficient. ID 4660 represents deletion.

You can retrieve these logs with PowerShell as follows:

```
Get-EventLog -LogName Security -Source "*auditing*" - InstanceId 4657,4660
```

Administrator: Windows PowerS	hell	- 0	ı ×
Windows PowerShell Copyright (C) Microsof	t Corporation. All rights reserved.		
PS C:\Windows\system32	Get-EventLog -LogName Security -Source "*auditing** -InstanceId 4657,4660		
Index Time	EntryType Source InstanceID Message		
52024 Dec 15 13:54 52021 Dec 15 13:54 52018 Dec 15 13:54 51953 Dec 04 21:59	SuccessA Microsoft-Windows 4660 An object was deleted SuccessA Microsoft-Windows 4577 A registry value was modified SuccessA Microsoft-Windows 4650 An object was deleted SuccessA Microsoft-Windows 4660 An object was deleted		
PS C:\Windows\system32	Get-EventLog -LogName Security -Source "*auditing*" -InstanceId 4657,4660 fl		
Index : 5 EntryType : Si InstanceId : 4 Message : Ai	2024 uccessAudit 660 n object was deleted.		
s	ubject: Security ID: S-1-5-18 Account Name: WIND0-1809-EN\$ Account Domain: WINDOWSPRO Logon ID: 0x3e7 bject:		
P	Object Server: Security Handle ID: 0x17c rocess Information: Process ID: 0x2d0 Process Name: C:\Windows\System32\svchost.exe Transaction ID: (00000000-0000-0000-0000000000000)		
Category : (CategoryNumber : 1: ReplacementStrings : (Source : M TimeGenerated : 1: TimeWritten : 1: JserName :	1200011361101101 [Geodesic Source Concession Concession 2001] S-1-5-18, WINIO-1809-ENG, WINDOWSPRO, 0x3e7] icrosoft-Windows-Security-Auditing 2/15/2019 1:54:07 PM		
Index : 5 EntryType : S InstanceId : 4 Message : A	2021 uccessAudit 557 registry value was modified.		

Output audit logs for registration via PowerShell

If you prefer a GUI, you can create a user-defined view in the Event Viewer.

Audit PowerShell keys in the registry

🛃 Event Viewer		
File Action View Help		
🗢 🄿 🖄 🔂 🖬		
 Event Viewer (Local) ServerRoles Administrative Events Audit registry Windows Logs Applications and Services Logs Subscriptions 	Audit registry Number of events: 58 Custom View Properties Filter XML Logged: Any time Event level: Critical Warning Verbose Event level: Critical Mutor Information Image: By log Event logs: Security Image: Security By gource Eyent sources: Microsoft Windows security auditing. Image: Separated by commas. To exclude criteria, type a minus sign first. For example 1,3,5-99,-76 Includes/Excludes Event IDs> Iask category Iask category Registry Very Image: Computer(s): Computer(s): <all computers=""> Clear OK</all>	×

Set up a custom view in the Event Viewer to filter out audit logs for registration

As a filter, select *Security* under *Event logs*, *Microsoft Windows security auditing* for *By source*, and *Registry* for the *Task category*. Alternatively, you can of course also filter the view using the event IDs.

6 Improve PowerShell code

6.1 Avoiding errors using strict mode

Like other dynamic programming languages, PowerShell gives the user a lot of freedom. This simplifies the fast development of short scripts, but it also encourages sloppy programming style and all the problems resulting from it. Strict mode eliminates some typical PowerShell pitfalls.

Strict mode is not a security feature in the narrower sense, although it can be used to avoid bugs that could lead to data loss in the worst case. Its primary purpose is to prevent errors in code that is syntactically correct but leads to unwanted results. Their causes are often very difficult to track down.

6.1.1 Versions of the strict mode

Perl has known such a mechanism for a long time, and in VBScript you can use *Option Explicit* to force variables to be declared before they are used for the first time. However, this mechanism doesn't overly limit developers and require them for example to declare data types.

While in Perl you can enable strict mode separately for variables, subs and references, PowerShell only expects a version number or the value *Off*. You pass the version number to the *Set-StrictMode* cmdlet.

6.1.2 Strict Mode 1.0

The version 1.0 prevents the use of undeclared variables:

Strict Mode 1.0 prevents the use of undeclared variables.

Since \$a is used in the if expression without a value being assigned to it, PowerShell shows an error message at this point.

6.1.3 Strict Mode 2.0

Version 2.0 additionally checks whether non-existing properties of an object are referenced. This can happen due to a typo or because you are dealing with a mix of objects where some do not have certain properties.

An example would be if you want to display all files that exceed a certain size:

Get-ChildItem | Where Length -gt 1GB

When Strict Mode Version 2.0 is activated, this command would issue an error message for all directories because they do not have a *Length* property.



Strict Mode 2.0 prevents the use of non-existent object properties.

This is also where the ambivalent nature of this mode becomes apparent, because it triggers alarms even in harmless cases. Without Strict Mode the directories would simply not be displayed.

Rather than avoiding strict mode 2, you would have to program more defensively in this example. You could filter out the directories using the *PSIsContainer* property:

```
gci |
? {$_.PSIsContainer -eq $false -and $_.length -gt 1GB}
```

Strict mode 2.0 also helps to avoid wrong function calls. The different syntax for executing methods and functions is one of the most popular pitfalls in PowerShell, especially for those users who often deal with other programming languages.

The command

```
myfunc(1, 2, 3)
```

interprets the arguments as one array instead of three different parameters.

6.1.4 Strict Mode 3.0

Finally, there is version 3.0 of Strict Mode, but it is not documented. You will get it automatically when you invoke

Set-StrictMode -Version Latest

in PowerShell 3.0 or a higher version. But you can also specify the "3.0" explicitly here.

In addition to the criteria of the other two versions, it also checks whether elements of an array are retrieved with an invalid index. This can happen relatively easily if you iterate over the elements of an array in a loop:

```
# At least PowerShell 3.0
$array = (1,2,3)
# No error, output of $null
Set-StrictMode -Version 2.0
for ($i= 0; $i -le 3; $i++){
        $array[$i]
      }
```

```
# Error IndexOutOfRangeException
Set-StrictMode -Version 3.0
for ($i= 0; $i -le 3; $i++){
        $array[$i]
    }
```

The terminating condition for the loop is

\$i -le 3

and this would also reference \$array[3]. With only 3 elements, the highest index is 2. Hence, Strict Mode 3.0 also acts as a bounds checker. Without it, PowerShell would output the value \$null here.

6.1.5 Scope of the strict mode

Finally, it should be noted that the definition of strict mode only applies to the respective scope and all its included scopes.

Avoiding errors using strict mode

```
Uwwwerlpat' X
1 = function myfunc{
2
3 Set-StrictMode -version 3.0
4 Sarray = (1,2,3)
5
6 = for(Si = 0; Si -le 3; Si++){
7
8 }
9 }
PS C:\Users\FLee> function myfunc{
Set-StrictMode -version 3.0
```



The strict mode defined in the function does not apply to calls on the command line.

If you set strict mode to version 3.0 in a *function*, for example, the default setting remains on the console, i.e. switched off. Conversely, entering

```
Set-StrictMode -Version 3.0
```

on the command line will result in PowerShell checking all scripts started from there to see whether the array index is out of bounds.

6.2 Checking code with ScriptAnalyzer

The open source project *PSScriptAnalyzer* is developing a code checker that compares script code to predefined rules. They are based on the best practices for PowerShell. It can even automatically correct certain deviations.

The first versions of the code checker could be integrated into PowerShell_ISE as an add-on called Script Browser. However, this no longer works in PowerShell 5.x and the plug-in has been removed from the PS Gallery. Instead, the Analyzer is now available through the PowerShell extension of Visual Studio Code and as a stand-alone module.

6.2.1 Installation via package management

If you develop PowerShell scripts not in VSCode, but in the ISE, as most admins will probably do, then you can start the code checker from the command line. To do so you have to install the module from the PSGallery first:

Install-Module -Name PSScriptAnalyzer

As the command

Get-Command -Module PSScriptAnalyzer

shows, the module provides three cmdlets:

- Get-ScriptAnalyzerRule
- Invoke-ScriptAnalyzer
- Invoke-Formatter

6.2.2 Displaying the rules

The first of these cmdlets is used to display the available rules against which the code of scripts is compared. If you call it without parameters, it will show all of the currently 55 standard rules including their descriptions. A useful parameter is *Severity*, which can use the *Error and Warning* values to limit the list to serious or less serious problems:

```
Get-ScriptAnalyzerRule -Severity Error
```

This command would only show rules where a violation would be classified as a bug. You need an overview of the rules set if you want to consider only certain recommendations or exclude others during the review.

Administrator Windows Power/Hel						
YS C:\Users\root.WINDOWSPRO> Get-ScriptAnalyzerRule						
RuleName	Severity	Description	SourceName			
PSAlignAssignmentStatement	Warning	Line up assignment statements such that the assignment operator are aligned.	PS			
PSAvoidUsingCmdletAliases	Warning	An alias is an alternate name or nickname for a cmdlet or for a command element, such as a function, script, file, or executable file. An implicit alias is also the omission of the 'Get-' prefix for commands with this prefix. But when writing scripts that will potentially need to be maintained over time, either by the original author or another Windows Powershell scripter, please consider using full cmdlen name instead of alias. Aliases can introduce these problems, readability. understandability and availability.	PS			
PSAvoidAssignmentToAutomaticVariabl e	Warning	This automatic variables is built into PowerShell and readonly.	PS			
PSAvoidDefaultValueSwitchParameter	Warning	Switch parameter should not default to true.	PS			
PSAvoidDefaultValueForMandatoryPara meter	Warning	Mandatory parameter should not be initialized with a default value in the param block because this value will be ignored To fix a violation of this rule, please avoid initializing a value for the mandatory parameter in the param block.	PS			
PSAvoidUsingEmptyCatchBlock	Warning	Empty catch blocks are considered poor design decisions because if an error occurs in the try block, this error is simply swallowed and not acted upon. While this does not inherently lead to bad things. It can and this should be avoided if possible. To fix a violation of this rule, using Write-From or throw statements in catch blocks.	PS			
PSAvoidGlobalAliases	Warning	Checks that global aliases are not used. Global aliases are strongly discouraged as they overwrite desired aliases with name conflicts.	PS			
PSAvoidGlobalFunctions	Warning	Checks that global functions and aliases are not used. Global functions are strongly discouraged as they can cause errors across different systems.	PS			
PSAvoidGlobalVars	Warning	Checks that global variables are not used. Global variables are strongly discouraged as they can cause errors across	PS			

View the default rules for ScriptAnalyzer using Get-ScriptAnalyzerRule.

Several rules have been added to the latest versions:

- AvoidAssignmentToAutomaticVariable: This is to prevent developers from assigning values to automatic variables such as \$ _.
- PossibleIncorrectUsageOfRedirectionOperator: This is mainly intended for developers who often use other programming languages, where a > or < serve as a comparison operators for greater or smaller. PowerShell uses -gt or -lt instead. The characters > and < are reserved for redirection.
- PossibleIncorrectUsageOfAssignmentOperator: Checks for the possibly wrong usage of the assignment operator. This could happen, for example, if Basic developers validate an expression for equality.
- AvoidTrailingWhiteSpace: The rule warns of spaces at the end of a line of code. They could become a problem if line breaks occur within a statement.

6.2.3 Checking script code

The actual checking of code is done with the help of *Invoke-ScriptAnalyzer*. In most cases, you pass the cmdlet the name of a script file that you want to check:

```
Invoke-ScriptAnalyzer -Path .\MyPSScript.ps1
```

The parameters *IncludeRules* and *ExcludeRules* can be used to explicitly include or exclude certain rules. If you specify several rules here, then they should be separated by a comma. Simple warnings could be suppressed, for example, by assigning the value *Error* to the *Severity* parameter.

SAvoidUsingCmdletAliases	Warning	GetSetting 7 .ps1	'gci' is an alias of 'Get-ChildItem'. Alias can introduce possible problems and make scripts hard to maintain. Please consider changing alias to its full content.
SAvoidUsingCmdletAliases	Warning	GetSetting 8 .ps1	'%' is an alias of 'ForEach-Object'. Alias can introduce possible problems and make scripts hard to maintain. Please consider changing alias to its full content.
SAvoidUsingCmdletAliases	Warning	GetSetting 14 .ps1	'%' is an alias of 'ForEach-Object'. Alias can introduce possible problems and make scripts hard to maintain. Please consider changing alias to its full content.
SAvoidUsingCmdletAliases	Warning	GetSetting 32 .ps1	'gc' is an alias of 'Get-Content'. Alias can introduce possible problems and make scripts hard to maintain. Please consider changing alias to its full content.
SAvoidUsingCmdletAliases	Warning	GetSetting 32 .ps1	'%' is an alias of 'ForEach-Object'. Alias can introduce possible problems and make scripts hard to maintain. Please consider changing alias to its full content.
SAvoidTrailingWhitespace	Information	GetSetting 35 .ps1	Line has trailing whitespace

In this example, ScriptAnalyzer warns about using an alias in a script.

A new option in version 1.17.1 is *Fix*, which can automatically correct certain deviations from the commonly used rules. This applies, for example, to the use of aliases for cmdlets. In some cases, script authors have to edit such corrections manually, for example when converting plain text to a secure string.

If you only want to check a code fragment and not an entire script file, use the *ScriptDefinition* parameter instead of *Path* and pass the code to it as a value. In this case, the *Fix* switch is not available for obvious reasons.

6.2.4 Formatting scripts

Finally, *Invoke-Formatter* is the third cmdlet that comes with the module. As the name suggests, script authors can use it to tidy up the formatting of the code. There are several conventions to choose from, which can be selected via the *Settings* parameter using auto-completion.

🛃 Windows PowerShell ISE					
Eile Edit View Iools Debug Add-ons Help					
1 🧀 🔒	X & O > 9 @ >	🗈 🔳 👁 🛛			
Untitled1.ps1*	Untitled2.ps1* ×				
1					
2	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	CmdletDesign		
3 .	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	CodeFormatting		
4	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	CodeFormattingAllman		
5	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	CodeFormattingOTBS		
6	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	CodeFormattingStroustrup		
7 :	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	DSC		
8	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	PSGallery		
9	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	ScriptFunctions		
10 1	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	ScriptingStyle		
11 :	Invoke-Formatter	-Settings	ScriptSecurity		
12					

Formatting options of Invoke-Formatter

It only accepts PowerShell code via the *ScriptDefinition* parameter, so you may have to read the content of a script file via *Get-Content-Raw* before you pass it to the formatter.

A detailed documentation of the module can be found on Github (bit.ly/2rSLdil).
7 More security with ScriptRunner

7.1 PowerShell management solution

In many organizations only a few selected experts use the capabilities of PowerShell. The reasons for this are:

- PowerShell know-how is not widely available
- No central management of PowerShell scripts
- No secure credential management
- Delegation fails due to security and authorization reasons

ScriptRunner transforms PowerShell into a solution that benefits your entire organization by making it much easier to develop, manage and delegate scripts. As such, it takes care of the necessary security aspects. Thereby PowerShell can also be used as a tool for the administration of heterogeneous systems.

7.2 Five steps to safe automation and delegation

7.2.1 Central storage of all PowerShell scripts

When centralizing the scripts, it is important to store them in a well-structured way so that they can be easily retrieved later.

They can be separated by target systems such as Exchange, Office 365 or Azure, or by target groups such as helpdesk or end users. Incidentally, the folder names automatically represent tags, which allow you to easily filter scripts.

=	ScriptRur	nner							0 0 0 0 .	COMPANY/Administrator(Kerberos)	
1.11	Dashboard	<	Scrip	ots	Cn	ndlets			Global Filters Tags	-milite + B	
	Actions Queries Targets Credentials Scripts Crediets Delegation	4		0 0 0 0 0		See EuklöressLisProperties psi See Euklinbuskonforup/Properties psi See Euklinbuskonforup psi See Euklinbuskonforup psi See EuklinbuskonforubeSate psi See EuklinbuskonforubeSate psi	85 Stryttile Jan 21, 2019 Jan 21, 2019 Jan 21, 2019 Jan 21, 2019 Jan 21, 2019 Jan 21, 2019	rary (768) 8 7 2 3 2 3 3	exchange AddressLists, Exchange DistributionGroups, Exchange Exchange, MatBows Exchange, MatBows Exchange, MatBows Exchange, MatBows Exchange, MatBows	Q	
	Settings				0 0 10 0	127	Set-ExhallboxProperties.ps1 Set-ExhallboxQuotas.ps1 Set-ExQur0fOffice.ps2 Set-ExQur0fOffice.gorig.ps1	Jan 21, 2019 Jan 24, 2019 Dec 9, 2019 Jan 28, 2019	9 12 6 14	Exchange, MailBoxes Exchange, MailBoxes "DEV., Exchange, MailBoxes "DEV., Exchange, MailBoxes	-
+	NEW		C Recei	©	+ Grante	Set-ExilesourceProperties pat	Jan 21, 2019	11	Exchange, Resources	9 0) Na	

ScriptRunner provides a central repository for all PowerShell scripts in the company.

Besides scripts, PowerShell modules are also subject to central administration. Therefore, you must, for example install modules for Office 365, Azure or VMware only once and after that, they will be available for all further activities.

Centralization is also an important step towards standardization, because it ensures that the most current version of a specific script is always used for all tasks. An automatic synchronization of the scripts with code management systems such as GitHub or TFS is also possible.

7.2.2 Secure credential management

Securely managing usernames and passwords for script execution is one of the biggest challenges. ScriptRunner allows you to store this information centrally and securely. For this purpose, the Windows credential store is available on the ScriptRunner server, and password servers from CyberArk, Pleasant and Thycotic are also supported.

This allows you to manage all credentials in a central repository, which makes administration much easier, especially when using multiple ScriptRunner instances.



For credentials management, ScriptRunner integrates password servers from multiple vendors

7.2.3 Convenient web-based user interface

All components such as scripts, credentials and schedules are managed via the AdminApp. The DelegateApp or Self-ServiceApp are available for executing the scripts manually. Plausibility checks, dynamic selection lists, and preconfigured default values reliably prevent users from making incorrect entries.

This makes it very easy and safe for helpdesk staff and end users to perform recurring tasks with the help of scripts. PowerShell knowledge and experience with the console are not required.

The input masks are automatically generated dynamically from the synopsis and parameter block of the respective PowerShell scripts. The timeconsuming programming and maintenance of user interfaces is therefore not necessary.





PowerShell scripts can be deployed to users through a self-service portal.

Five steps to safe automation and delegation

7.2.4 Executing and monitoring all PowerShell scripts centrally

By processing scripts centrally, ScriptRunner provides a complete audit trail of all PowerShell activities. Three execution options are available:

- Manually by a user using the ScriptRunner DelegateApp
- Scheduled for regular tasks
- Event-controlled by third-party systems

With the help of the ScriptRunner dashboard, you will always have an overview of your entire PowerShell landscape. Information about processing times, possible errors or unreachable backend systems can be easily retrieved.

In addition, detailed log files, Windows event log entries and Windows performance counters are available for analysis.



The ScriptRunner dashboard provides an overview of all scripts and its associated resources.

7.2.5 Secure delegation to helpdesk and end users

With the points mentioned above, the prerequisites are now basically in place to implement recurring tasks with PowerShell safely and easily. Delegating these tasks to employees in areas outside of IT administration, however, poses an additional challenge. How do we ensure that these employees do not need administrative permissions in the respective backend systems, such as Active Directory, Exchange, VMware or Office 365, for execution?

ScriptRunner executes scripts with the help of the central service accounts or service principals. The users are granted access to the desired actions via the delegation in ScriptRunner and therefore do not need any elevated privileges. Helpdesk staff or end users remain standard users of the domain and can still perform delegated tasks without security concerns.

≡	<mark>2 Script</mark> Run	ner*						O 🕀 🔍 📑 *	COMPANY(Administrator(Kerberos)			
		<	Dele	egat	ion							
Ш	Dashboard		0									
-	Artions		12					Search	٩			
	Ouarias			4	Azure Team	Administrator (Team)	1	Azure Team	Active Directory			
	Targets	Targets		4	Exchange Team	Administrator (Team)	0	Exchange Team	Active Directory			
6	Credentials		•	44	Germany	Administrator (Team)	1	theo	Active Directory			
	Scripts Cmdlets			4	VMWare Admins	Administrator (Team)	2	sandra	Active Directory			
_			0	2	Exchange Tasks	Service Desk User	11	sandra	Active Directory			
	Delegation			2	HelpDesk Team in Domain NewCompany Ltd.	Service Desk User	0	S-1-5-21-3165464177-1285142364-4116597285-1167	Claims-based identity			
	Automation		0	2	ScriptRunner Operators	Service Desk User	6	SR-ServiceDesk	Active Directory			
	Settings			2	User Helpdesk - EMEA	Service Desk User	28	tina	Active Directory			
				2	User HelpDesk - Global	Service Desk User	2	sandra	Active Directory			
				2	VM Tasks	Service Desk User	0	sandra	Active Directory			
			0	2	WebService User	Service Desk User	1	WebServiceUsr	Active Directory			
									v			
+1	IEW	i.		+ Creater	en Denter				😧 🧿			

With ScriptRunner, administrative tasks can be securely delegated to standard users.

7.3 Additional information

Would you like to learn more about ScriptRunner? Then visit our homepage at www.scriptrunner.com

On our PowerShell poster, you will find all important commands and cmdlets at a glance. Get your free copy at <u>www.scriptrunner.com/poster</u>

Window	s Power s	Shell			ScriptRunne Make PowerShell a real solution
				GET HELP	TURN PAGE
www.scriptrurine				Get Constant Det * All constants with Josh*	
				Get Command) where module - like "ActiveDirectory" 1: Name, Module	PIPELINING
				Get Alias Show all alians	Key number of contraindeds can be preed using the pipe symbol Get Service of (Mere Object IS, itstus -eq "running")
		WART IN A COMPANY COMMANDURE	INFORTHER NUMERICAN COMMANDURIE	Get Help Stop Process Aul Full help contact for a command	Abarratisely see can share intermediate service in variables starting
		INFOT AND OUTPOT COMMAND(ETS	THE COMPACT POLY AND A COMPANY OF CAMPANY OF CAMPANY	Get Help about List all About' documents	Services - Set Service 3" (When Object 5, Januar - eq. Yunning Services) Out-file Citemply uningenvices bit
		Format Table (fp Table surput	Gen PSDrive List of drives	Get Help about WMI Show help for WMI	The pipeline forwards MET objects, Forwarding is asynchronous
	COMPARISON OPERATORS	Format Link (R) Desailed link	Get coation (pvd) Retrieve current location	Get Service Get Monitor Show all properties and methods of the result objects	(most from some "blocking" commandlets like the sort object
and the Department		Formal Wide Set Multi-column Set	Set Leadion (ut) Set current location		201000-010 CONVERTO
NUS AND EXPRESSIONS	Compare case Compare case Meaning in sensitive sensitive	Out Heat (44) Disput to concern with calour options and paging option	Get (ben (g) Get an element	POWERSHELL SCRIPTING LANGUAGE	Constantial Descention Descent
ong di a vanade in a string mmand la \$Command"		Out GridNew (bpc) Table with Thoring and sorting sprions	Gen Oxideam (dc.h. gc) List all subelements	Condition # (Gen Dated New He 2014) (100/) etce ("New")	
te used here to definit it from the colon teacht waardeel a coast dir."	a dt Lesiban	Out file Sevenin file	Get Context (type, cet, pd) context)	Loope	/ I / A
expression must be governmented in \$()	de	Out-Prime (p) Send to primer	Set Content (u) Set element content	Soc(5i = 7, 5i -let 52, 5i + (-) (-5i) while(5i -let 52) (-5i - 5i -)	
Court opera in weat or	ag og snorthe	Out Optional Send to Optional	Add Content (ad) Add element content.	do (3), 50 =) white (3) (4 12) Savesh (5) in (54 Process lengthres) (54 500)	
e Sormat operator ea.(15.11).exes (1.0.000.00)MB* -{11, Name, (1, wu/1MB)	-ope Greater or equal	Out Speech Speech output (requires module "PSOC)	New Rem (N. Holds) Create an element (shandh or lost)	Subsoutives with mandatory parameters and optional parameters	POWERSHELL PIPELINE PROCESSOR
	and -one lipse	Out Null Objects in pipeline are not peoped on	Get herehoperty (gp) Retrieve attribute	parent on our parents participy biost bird bird.	DAMPS
editing as a conversed and = "Set Service at"	-one Not equal	Read-Had Read from console	See kandingsery bot create one Processary	ntum Get Oxidhen Snat Alter "Miteral"	Get Service at (Where Object (5, status as "running')) Dut fill name bit
and ++ " where status req Running" + Invola-Expression Sconward	-the -the Similarity between strings, use of -the withhelds (* and % possible	Import-CIV Import / export CS2 The Export-CSV	(del, 4, ends, en, arase) Delete element	Cel CLL (10/ndow03/nten82	Commandiel #1
nd [Pornal-Call Farmat-Call	-notike -profile Massimilarity between strings, use of withards (* and % possible	Import-COMM, Import-/ export XM, Sie	Maie flett (naie, tri) Move element	Comment	Get Senior a' Object of type: System. Seniorhouses. SeniorController
PSUELL DATA TYPES	-match -onabh Compare with regular expression	The deleted with a set of	Copy-Nen-body (p. cp) Copy element		Commandiet #2 - Selection
	-notinatch unetmatch Does not match require expression	Gen Process (1) Bit about - No", Expension 5, IOL Width 5,	Rename Ben (m, ren) Rename element	ACTIVE DIRECTORY (AD) Insparse Module Active Directory	Where Object (5, statue-op "running")
	 Type comparison, e.g. (Set Data) is Exactlined 	Bisabel- Menory MIT: Expension-3, MithingSet64.7 THB: Work-2 Sumary MIT: Expension-3, MithingSet64.7 THB:	With Navigation Commandlets it's not only possible to sperate on the file	Constitution and the second second second	Commandiat #3 - Storage in Six system Out-File citilionament
	the second second second		(drives A, B, C etc.) but also on other flat and	Get Addiget Network and they report from Ad-	IMPORTANT PIPELINING COMMANDLETS
	rotin a bioticidad in at	CONFIGURING AND USING NETWORKS	Environment (SMX), Centificate (CRF), Active Directory (AD),	Ger 400map Ger 400maniationalitie - Terrina surfacilar AD stamours	
is random number between 1 and 40 and store in variable Se a s Centification, Minimum 1, Maximum 40			IS Websever (IS) #E:	Ger AllConson Ger AllConso Arr	Where Object takens, b Filter using conditions
er hoet	For logical conjunction, and, or as well as not talks 0 are used through a first a first a first state of the second state of		Dr HNLM/Hillmann New-ten HNLM/Hillmann/Solpthumer	Set ADOSect	Select Object beliefs induction of stylect attributes, in
	KR, Mb, GB, TB, and PB are raild units for memory sizes.	on modernary reprint of the orthogen	10 MCMC III III III III III III III III II	Set ADGroup Set properties for an object	Sert-Olgest-bart) Sert objects
and data topic	USING NET FRAMEWORK CLASSES	Set Networking English or addition of the		New ADOW	Group Object (group) Group shjects
nel .	Annual and annual second se	Ransue Nerthodowa Tel or renove stats, P address Set Drof Terriforanduk	POWERSHELL CLASSES	New ADDrganizationa- New ADDrganizationa-	Faneach-Object (L., 1 (N) Longs over all objects
arrent date in variable 5d	System Environment) Hischinehame	6ves Set or remove DNS server	Implementation of the PowerGhell class	Real Real Processing	Get Monbor (pr) Print metadata (reflection)
nej 52 - Get Oute	Instantiation and arres to instance methods	Renove RetRocks Annove gateway from network connection	f Properties	Terrer Wheel	Measure Object (measure) Calculation, minimum and
n	50 + New Object System Directory services Directory Servy (1995) Mills Macage Scientificance (1	Resolve Drukkane Resolve DAS name	(reg) SID balance Wiener	Noranie Autoget	
14)	Stillhome Stillhome - 'Investigation'	Deable Hieffrewallhale Enable or deable a Windows Prewall rule	hidden (Dateline) (CreatedOn # State Property		·
isenius - Get Senius a"	Sta Senterio g	Net Connection Perform a ping	state (redd) 6Court	for the second s	OBJECT-ORIENTED ACCESS TO PIPELINE OB.
omplex data structures	Load and use additional assembly Dynam Reflection Assembly LoadWittin's Saltamer Microsoft Visualita-	Send MailMesage Send email	# Combruitur User(Int) Snexid, Johing (Sname)	on constraints on proprietion of the pro-	Number of objects in pipeline start Service Labora 15, status, an "Burnine" to Sweet
	iic) Snput + (Mccoaft/Auaillasic.Interaction).InputIoc/Phase enter your	Involu-Witchequelt INTP inquest	Stric.D = Snewid		Print particular properties of pipeline objects
interfacional and a second descent and a second descent the	name(;10x)	New WebServiceProg	Sitius Name = Sname Sitius CrustedOn = Get Gate		IGen-Exerct Exe/Officiels IGen-Process):Name
() Assembly Cell (per) System Management Automation Interation 3: Cell		Prov Coale pricy for ODuta based service	Tradition - Madition - 1	MOTOR CONTRACTOR	(Set Process) sort wa -desc()() Name
			phing Getinb(bool) Switzer, (shing) Segurator)	INDICATORS	Method call in all pipeline objects (Set Process Replace (sort wsdeed,RM))
FIGURING POWERSHELL		ACCESS TO WMI	biting Se = "\$5this EldeperatorSidthis/Name/"	An Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna A	
extended Allow all PowerSte	l soripti	List of all WMI classes from a namespace of a computer Get CimDias -Namespace root/cim/2 -Computer MyServer	serum Se	Sun Process	SOFTWARE INSTALLATION
outonPolicy Remontligned / Altigned Only allow signed	overfinel scripts	List all instances of a WMI cleas on a computer	* Static Method static (string) GetCount)	Step Process	List all types of peckages the Reserviced in the technology
PStenoing SkylatworkhollsCheck Enable PowerShell	enote access for this machine - even if there are public networks	ser crimitarior West, Jogcathia: Namepala tootoimid: Computer Myberver	A neuro "In total Schweid Count-users"	Wat for process to terminate	install in g. Noget, Charalan
ot PivenBeta Erofladgoundoobr + White' Overge backgroun	Colour for error messages (increases contrast of red-theracters)	W2L query on a computer	3 Use of the PowerShell class	Set Service Windows system services	http://www.com/com/com/com/com/com/com/com/com/com/
		adaptertype like "b802%" - Computer MyServer	Sb = (Une)(new(V21/'Matt Scipter') Sb10 = 1	Step Service Change service state	Consistery -Provider choosilatry Register new package source
MODULES		Access to an instance and change to the instance	St.Name = "Matt" St.Getrrfodinus.171	Resume Service	http://thocalutey.org/api/v2/
dule Unit activated mode	5	 In a community more approximation damages reactioned inter "Deviation", "Computer Mylenver Er Valuedianes - Suited" 	(Aw) Second)	Get Win Event Event log antiles	- Get RadageGource List all registered package o
due Gistialide Sist all installed mo	Uhi	Set Contractione Sc		New Wedverst Costs only in event log	Find Ruckage (Kame chrome Sourch package source for s
Module Enable local module	for current session	Alternatively with old IMM commandets. 51 a MMM 2010/Jacastrophics/2010/11 (costable) Presonable 711	ONLINE RESOURCES	Unit-barriag Set size for event log	- yourse chooldary by specific used in title
oduly Search modules in I	overShell Gallery	Schulenettane - "Syden"	technol.nocconficienter	Get Counter Retrieve Important performance Indicators	Source choolidary geoglectivene Social Package geoglectivene Sociality Social Package geoglectivene
					Concernence of the second s
Noble Download and into	I modules hore PowerShell Gallery	Errory Faller - Will author	Magazala and Samithat	Get Counter Galiet 1 Lot all performance indicators	

The PowerShell poster contains all of the commands and important cmdlets.

You can read more about PowerShell related security topics on our blog:

https://www.scriptrunner.com/en/blog/security-powershell-scripting/

Password servers can also provide additional security. More about their use in the TechSnips video: <u>http://y2u.be/6gfubJAs-RA</u>